
 
 

DRAFT AGENDA 
Professional Studies Faculty Council 

 

Friday, March 22, 2013  
10:00 am – 12:00-noon 

Room A210, Abbotsford Campus 

 

Package 
Pages 

 

 

Pg. 3 – 6  

1. Guest Speakers 

1.1. Peggy Bray, Educational Advisor, Student Services – PASS  
What is Priority Access to Student Supports? 

1.2. Jody Gordon, Vice President, Students – Co-Curricular Record (CCR) 
 

 

Pg. 1 – 2  

Pg. 7 – 10  

 

2. Items for Approval 

2.1. Agenda – March 22, 2013 

2.2. Minutes – February 22, 2013 
 

 

Pg. 11 

3. Continuing Business 

3.1. Criteria for Teaching, Service and Scholarship Retreat: 
June 17, 2013, Aboriginal Gathering Space, CEP, 8:00 a.m. – 1:00 p.m.  

 

 

Pg. 12 – 16 

 

Pg. 17 – 23 

 

See Attachment 

4. New Business 

4.1. Minor Course Change: BUS 499 Course Re-approval  
(BUS 499A/BUS499B) 

4.2. Online Learning; Teaching and Learning Five-Year Strategic Plan 

4.3. Convocation Update 

4.4. Quality Assurance Framework 
 

 

 

Pg. 24 

 

 

5. Standing Committee Reports 

5.1. Nominations and Elections Committee 

o Update on Standing Committee Memberships 

o Update on Professional Studies Representatives on Other Faculty 
Councils 

5.2. Field Education and Practicum Committee 

5.3. Retention Committee 

5.4. Learning Exchange Committee 

5.5. Faculty Newsletter Committee 
 

March 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 
Draft Agenda Package

Page 1 of 24



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

6. Committee Reports 

6.1. Dean’s Report 

6.2. Report’s from other Faculty Councils 

6.3. Report from Senate 
 

 

 

7. Information Items 

7.1. Next Faculty Council Meeting Friday, April 19, 2013, Room D219 

 

 

March 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 
Draft Agenda Package

Page 2 of 24



What is Priority Access 
to Student Supports? 
A simple, fast and proactive program designed 
to enhance student success at UFV.

Similar to other post-secondary institutions, UFV has developed Priority Access  
to Student Supports (PASS) to enhance student success through accelerated access 
to support services at UFV. 

PASS is a proactive approach for faculty members to identify and refer at-risk 
students to support services thereby ensuring they receive timely and targeted 
support. 

WHy sHoUld i Use PAss? 

The program provides early intervention so small issues don’t turn into larger 
ones. The Priority Access program brings all of UFV’s resources together to 
provide a simple and effective way for instructors to refer students requiring 
support services.

Students matter. The Priority Access program lets students know that the UFV 
community cares. The supports that are available to students show them they  
are important.

Students need to be informed in writing (for confidentiality reasons) as well as 
verbally that faculty are participating in the PASS program. Ideally faculty would 
make an announcement—describing the purpose of PASS and why a referral 
might occur—during the first class of the term. This introduction to the program 
would also provide faculty with an opportunity to express their concern in the 
students’ progress and interest in facilitating access to all UFV supports and 
resources. PASS will provide faculty with a disclaimer that can be inserted in  
the course syllabus or distributed as a stand-alone piece.  

Priority AcceSS to Student SuPPortS (PASS)

PASS

ufv.ca/passMarch 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 
Draft Agenda Package

Page 3 of 24



“ Since Fall 2009, the Kwantlen Polytechnic University Early Alert program 
has assisted over 1140 students across the 2009/10 and 2010/11 academic 
years. Awareness and use of Early Alert at Kwantlen continues to grow 
with each successive semester and with it, so too does the academic 
success and persistence rates of students who were otherwise at risk for 
falling behind. I encourage other institutions to look at how programs 
like this can be implemented to assist with their student support goals.”

 —    JoShuA Mitchell,  
Director, Student Engagement Kwantlen Polytechnic University

PASS

PASS is a quick  
and easy online  
referral method  
for faculty members 
wishing to identify  
at-risk students. steP 1:  

identify A Student

WHo is PAss intended For?

Do you have students who…

•	 miss classes and assignments

•	 fail midterms or tests

•	 are unprepared for course rigour 

•	 have underdeveloped study skills

•	 you worry about

March 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 
Draft Agenda Package

Page 4 of 24



WHAt tyPe oF CoUrses Will i tAke?

How can I  
refer a student 
to PASS?

steP 2: 
refer A Student

WHAt CAn yoU do?

Let PASS know! Quickly and easily refer a struggling 
student to the PASS program following the 4 steps 
above. This immediately generates an email which 
will be received by the PASS team.

steP 3: 
AcceSS to SuPPort

WHAt HAPPens next?

The PASS team identifies resources and support 
services that can assist the student, who is 
subsequently connected to the resources he or she 
needs in a timely manner.

Access to the following services is available: 

Advising, Counselling, International Education, 
Disability Resource Centre, Financial Aid and 
Awards, Aboriginal Access Centre, Assessment 
Services, Learning Supports

1. Log into myUFV as if you were accessing 
your class list.

2. Select PASS from the Faculty Services 
menu.

3. Select term and section for student who 
needs PASS.

4. Select student name and complete relevant 
information. Add your comments, as they 
are often helpful to the PASS team. 

my.ufv.ca

March 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 
Draft Agenda Package

Page 5 of 24



About UFV 
Nestled in the beautiful Fraser Valley just east of 
Vancouver, in B.C., UFV is a fully accredited, public 
university that enrolls more than 15,000 students 
each year. UFV has campuses in Abbotsford, 
Chilliwack, and Mission along with regional 
centres in Hope and Agassiz, and a growing 
presence in Chandigarh, India. 

UFV strives to be a place of learning that 
recognizes, respects, and includes indigenous 
ways of knowing. Our Fraser Valley locations are 
in the traditional territory of the Stó:lō peoples.

UFV is committed to exceptional post-secondary 
instruction and a nurturing learning environment. 
We are large enough to offer variety, yet small 
enough to offer the personal attention that our 
students need to thrive. Our small class sizes  
and focus on teaching allow our students to  
get to know their instructors and learn in a  
hands-on setting.

We offer a wide range of educational options, 
including two master’s degrees, 15 bachelor’s 
degrees (with majors, minors, and extended 
minors in more than 30 subject areas), almost 100 
diploma and certificate programs, and more than 
a dozen trades and technology credentials. We 
believe that anyone who wants to go to university 
should be given the chance, so our admission 
policies are flexible, and we provide university 
prep courses and high school completion options. 
There are many options for learning: full-time, in 
class, online, as part of a structured program or 
one tailored specifically to your interests.

Many of our programs “ladder” into one another, 
allowing students to keep their options open. Our 
international programming makes for a culturally 
diverse student body and great opportunities 
to study abroad, while our continuing studies 
offerings make learning a lifelong experience.

UFV is recognized nationally for student success, 
an excellent learning environment, creative 
integration of programming, and our work with 
our local communities. Get to know us better at 
www.ufv.ca . 

©  2012 UFV, PASS 
April 2012 

Because Students Matter
FreqUently Asked qUestions

do faculty remain anonymous? 

The PASS team will inform the student how and why the team  
was alerted.

What feedback do faculty receive after sending a PAss alert? 

Faculty will be notified that the alert has been received.

How do i know if the assistance provided  
for the student was effective? 

The PASS team will follow up with the student to inquire if the 
services suggested were accessed and effective.

ContACt inFormAtion

Peggy Bray 
Advising Team Lead, Student Services 
604.504.7441, ext. 4722 
PASSteam@ufv.ca 

Leanne Tielmann 
Acting Director, Student Services 
604.557.4016 
PASSteam@ufv.ca 

We thank our colleagues at Kwantlen Polytechnic University for their generous assistance in getting  
the Priority Access to Student Supports (PASS) Program launched at UFV.

ufv.ca/pass
March 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 

Draft Agenda Package
Page 6 of 24



April 
 

 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
Professional Studies Faculty Council 

 
Friday, February 22, 2013 

10:30 a.m., Room A210, Abbotsford Campus 
 

 
Chair: Cyrus Chaichian 
 
Present: 
 
Rosetta Khalideen Elizabeth Dow Heather Compeau* Maple Melder-Crozier 
Barbara Stirskey* Gerry Palmer Karen Power* Sandy Hill 
Christina Neigel Glen Paddock Katherine Sallos Seonaigh MacPherson 
Christine Slavik Gillian Bubb Kim Milnes  
David Dobson Jan Lashbrook Green Les Stagg  

 
Regrets: 
 
Amir Hajbaba Doris Ball Kathie Ramsay Mark Breedveld 
Andrea Hughes Don Miskiman Keith Lownie Mark Lee 
Awneet Sivia Ed Li Kenneth Gariepy Mike Ivanof 
Barbara Salingré Fiona McQuarrie Kevin deWolde Pat Bullock 
Christine Nehring George Melzer Kyle Stamm Raymond Leung 
Cindy Rammage Gwen Clark Leah Douglas Robert Harding 
Cindy Stewart Gwen Point Lisa Moy Ron Zitron 
Colleen Bell Ian Hunt Lorne Mackenzie Sheryl MacMath 
Curtis Magnuson Joe Ilsever Lou Schroeder Vlad Dvoracek 
Dianne Common John Hogg Lucki Kang  

  
Recorder: Nicole Fast* 

* Indicates Non-Voting Member 

 
1. WELCOME 

 
Cyrus Chaichian called the meeting to order at 10:31 a.m.   

 
 

2. ITEMS FOR APPROVAL 
 

2.1. Approval of Agenda February 22, 2013 
 

MOTION                         Gerry Palmer/Les Stagg 
THAT the agenda of February 22, 2013 be adopted as presented 

CARRIED 
 

 
2.2. Approval of Minutes January 25, 2013 

 

 
MOTION                  Christine Slavik/Gerry Palmer 
THAT the minutes of January 25, 2013 be approved as submitted 

CARRIED 
 

 

March 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 
Draft Agenda Package

Page 7 of 24



 Professional Studies Faculty Council Draft Minutes             
 February 22, 2013               Page 2 of 4 
 

 
3. GUEST SPEAKER – HEATHER COMPEAU, LIBRARIAN 

 
Heather Compeau discussed the Fair Dealing Policy, UFV’s new Copyright Policy.  The fair 
dealing provision in the Copyright Act permits use of copyright protected work without permission 
from the owner or the payment of copyright royalties.  Some of the new allowances within the Fair 
Dealing Policy are: 
 
1) Instructors may communicate/reproduce in paper or electronic form, short excerpts from 

copyright protected work for the purpose of research and education, as long as the 
source is included. 

 
2) A single copy of a short excerpt may be provided to a student enrolled in a course as a 

handout, a posting on an online course, or as part of a course pack. 
 
3) Examples of short excerpts: 

 up to 10% of copyright protected work 

 one chapter from a book 

 a single article from a periodical 

 an entire artistic work (photograph, map, painting) 

 an entire newspaper article or page 

 an entire single poem or musical score 

 an entire entry from an encyclopedia, annotated bibliography, dictionary or similar 
reference work 

 
4) Copying or communicating multiple short excerpts from the same work is prohibited. 

 
For further information or questions, please contact Heather Compeau, Librarian, at local 4096. 
 
Rosetta noted the importance of understanding and abiding by the Fair Dealing Policy.   

 
 

4. CONTINUING BUSINESS 
 

4.1. Discussion on Standards for Criteria in Teaching, Service and Scholarship 
 

The Faculty of Professional Studies has been discussing Criteria for Teaching, Service 
and Scholarship since 2011.  To date, feedback from ECE/CYC and TEP have been 
received.   
 
Discussion from Schools/Departments who have not submitted criteria 

 

 There is not enough time to discuss this issue within their Schools/Departments 

 The Faculty should establish unique standards and criteria for individual programs, 
instead of trying to create general standards for the entire Faculty of Professional 
Studies 

 Professional Studies could develop an “approved standard” consisting of a collection 
of each School/Department’s standards.  The unique diversity of programs can still 
be maintained 

 Use accreditation standards for programs as framework 

 It was suggested by one faculty member that faculty as union members should seek 
guidance from the FSA on this matter 

March 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 
Draft Agenda Package

Page 8 of 24



 Professional Studies Faculty Council Draft Minutes             
 February 22, 2013               Page 3 of 4 
 

 The Research Advisory Council website was noted as a great resource for examples 
of standards and Criteria for Teaching, Service and Scholarship, 
http://www.ufv.ca/research/RAC   

 
It was agreed that Schools/Departments should develop their own standards and criteria, 
by the end of May, to bring for discussion at a half-day retreat in mid-June.  Rosetta will 
arrange for a facilitator to lead the retreat session. Venue and other details will be worked 
out later.  

ACTION: SCHOOLS/DEPARTMENTS 
DEADLINE: MAY 2013 

 
 

5. NEW BUSINESS 
 

5.1. Early Childhood Education/Child & Youth Care – Minor Changes 
 

 
MOTION                                 Les Stagg/Sandy Hill 
THAT the Early Childhood Education/Child & Youth Care courses CYC 210, CYC 220, 
CYC 268, CYC 340, CYC 341, CYC 410, CYC 423, CYC 425, CYC 467, CYC 468 and 
CYC 469 be approved as submitted 

CARRIED 
 

 
 

6. STANDING COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 

6.1. Nominations and Elections Committee – Glen Paddock, on behalf of Leah Douglas 
 

 Two openings for faculty members to sit on the Learning Exchange Committee 

 One opening for a faculty member to sit on the Retention Committee 

 One opening for a faculty member to sit on the Nominations and Elections Committee 

ACTION: NOMINATIONS AND ELECTIONS COMMITTEE 
 
 

6.2. Field Education and Practicum Committee – Maple Melder-Crozier 
 

 
MOTION                                                Maple Melder-Crozier/Sandy Hill 
THAT the Field Education and Practicum Committee’s Terms of Reference be 
reapproved with the recommended change under Section B, Membership, as advised 
by the Dean: 

 Membership can include university-wide practicum representatives from 
various Faculties, recommended by the Committee and appointed by the Dean 

TWO ABSTAINED 
CARRIED 

 

 
6.3. Retention Committee – No Report 

 
6.4. Learning Exchange Committee – No Report 

 
6.5. Newsletter Committee – Christine Slavik 

 

 Six articles have been submitted to the Newsletter Committee 

 The Committee plans to release a Newsletter this semester, and one in the Fall 
semester, totaling two publications per year 

March 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 
Draft Agenda Package

Page 9 of 24

http://www.ufv.ca/research/RAC


 Professional Studies Faculty Council Draft Minutes             
 February 22, 2013               Page 4 of 4 
 
 

7. OTHER UFV REPORTS 
 

7.1. Dean’s Report – No Report 
 

7.2. Faculty of Access/Open Studies – Barbara Stirskey 
 

 This Faculty is still discussing Criteria in Teaching, Service and Scholarship 

 The Faculty of Access/Open Studies now has a FAOS Newsletter 

 The Faculty hosted a successful Institutional Learning Outcomes Retreat, facilitated 
by Wendy Burton  

 

7.3. Senate Report – Gerry Palmer 
 

 The Final Grade Appeal Policy is back on the Senate’s March Agenda, for a vote 

 Wendy Burton brought an Online Learning Five-Year Plan to APPC with a goal to 
offer 100% of courses online.  This plan has a revised goal to offer 80% of courses 
online, within the next five years.  Most likely the approval will be postponed at 
Senate in order for necessary conversations to happen; including discussions at 
Faculty Council meetings 

 
 

8. INFORMATION ITEMS 
 

8.1. President’s 2013 Lecture Series Continues 
 
Sheldon Kennedy: Empowering the Bystander 
Date: February 27, 2013 
Book signing: 3:30 p.m., Abbotsford Bookstore 
Lecture: 4:30 p.m., Room B101, Abbotsford Campus 

 
8.2. Next  Faculty Council Meeting 

 
Friday, March 22, 2013, Room A210, Abbotsford Campus 
 
 
 

March 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 
Draft Agenda Package

Page 10 of 24



 

One Door - 
Research Office 

(Research & 
Graduate 
Studies) 

Course Releases for 
Research and 

Scholarly Activity 

Faculty with a Research Program 
2 releases each year for 3 years 

(10  faculty maximum on this 'track', 4 per year maximum) 

Faculty with a Research Project 
(1 release) 1 year 

Faculty New Hire 
(1 release for 3 years) research active (year 1 comes from the 

Dean's budget; years 2 and 3 come from the release pool) 
(NOTE: numbers will be driven by the number of new hires in 

any give year; enforcing a limit may be difficult) 
Research Support 

Research funds in lieu of release 
(Specific limitations will be made on this option - a 
subcommittee or task force to determine criteria) 

UFV Student Research Assistants  
80ish Sections 

 

March 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 
Draft Agenda Package

Page 11 of 24



   

 

 

 

 

 
 

OFFICIAL UNDERGRADUATE COURSE OUTLINE  
 

 

 

 

Proposed Course: BUS 499. Applied Project 

 

 

 

Overview 

 
This ‘independent study’ course is focused on the completion and presentation of an applied project or 
consultancy project in business for senior business degree students. It provides the opportunity to develop 
and demonstrate applied research and business consultancy skills. Students will be expected to complete 
a Statement of Work (SOW) - project scope, work to be done, and timelines; Conduct that work - 
situational analyses, option generation and recommendations; and, Prepare a comprehensive report. 
Upon completion of the written work, students will be required to present their report in a public forum. 
 
The course offers an opportunity for senior students to engage in a business consultancy project, working 
with an organization in the community. Students will be supervised by UFV faculty. The topic of the project 
will vary according to the needs of the partner organization, and, based on those topics, a corresponding 
faculty member will be assigned as supervisor. The topic for investigation will focus on organizations in 
British Columbia, with preference given to those in the Fraser Valley. 
 
The course is designed to be an elective for students enrolled in the BBA Honours program. Students will 
be asked to “apply” to take the course. Applications will be reviewed by the School of Business and those 
students meeting the requirements (e.g. GPA, 4

th
 year or Honours status, faculty recommendation) will be 

selected to enroll in the course. Delivery of the course will be by Independent Study. 
 
The course is expected to attract students from within the School of Business. It will provide an 
opportunity for students to engage in business research, preparing them for graduate studies or advanced 
diploma studies. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

March 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 
Draft Agenda Package

Page 12 of 24



   
                                                                                                                          OFFICIAL UNDERGRADUATE COURSE OUTLINE (page 2) 

 
 
 
 
 

 

OFFICIAL UNDERGRADUATE COURSE OUTLINE INFORMATION 
 

Students are advised to keep course outlines in personal files for future use. 

Shaded headings are subject to change at the discretion of the department – see course syllabus available from instructor  

 

BUS 499   Faculty of Professional Studies,  
School of Business 

 6 

COURSE NAME/NUMBER  FACULTY/DEPARTMENT  UFV CREDITS 
Applied Project  

COURSE DESCRIPTIVE TITLE 
 

CALENDAR DESCRIPTION:  

This course is focused on the completion and presentation of an applied project or consultancy project in business for 
senior business degree students. It provides the opportunity to develop and demonstrate applied research and 
business consultancy skills. Students will be expected to complete a Statement of Work (SOW) - project scope, work 
to be done, and timelines; Conduct that work - situational analyses, option generation and recommendations; and, 
Prepare a comprehensive report. Upon completion of the written work, students will be required to present their report 
in a public forum. 

 

PREREQUISITES: Completion of 90 upper-level credits in business courses. Permission of the instructor. 
COREQUISITES:  

 

SYNONYMOUS COURSE(S): SERVICE COURSE TO:  
(a) Replaces:    

(b) Cross-listed with:    

(c) Cannot take:  for further credit.  

 

TOTAL HOURS PER TERM:           90    TRAINING DAY-BASED INSTRUCTION: 

STRUCTURE OF HOURS:    Length of course:  

Lectures:  Hrs  Hours per day:  

Seminar:  Hrs    

Laboratory:  Hrs  OTHER:  

Field experience: 45 Hrs  Maximum enrolment: 6  

Student directed learning: 30 Hrs  Expected frequency of course offerings: Once per year  

Other (specify): Meetings with  
supervisor  

15 

 

Hrs   

 

WILL TRANSFER CREDIT BE REQUESTED? (lower-level courses only)  Yes  No 
WILL TRANSFER CREDIT BE REQUESTED? (upper-level requested by department)  Yes  No 
TRANSFER CREDIT EXISTS IN BCCAT TRANSFER GUIDE:  Yes  No 

 

COURSE IMPLEMENTATION DATE: January 2013 

COURSE REVISED IMPLEMENTATION DATE:  

COURSE TO BE REVIEWED: January, 2018 
(six years after UPAC approval) (month, year) 

Course designer(s): Dr. Donald Miskiman  

Department Head: Dr. Donald Miskiman   Date approved:        

Supporting area consultation (Pre-UPAC)   Date of meeting:        

Curriculum Committee chair: Mr. Mark Breedveld   Date approved:        

Dean/Associate VP: Dr. Rosetta Khalideen    Date approved:        

Undergraduate Program Advisory Committee (UPAC) approval   Date of meeting:        
    

March 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 
Draft Agenda Package

Page 13 of 24



 

 

BUS 494 

COURSE NAME/NUMBER 

OFFICIAL UNDERGRADUATE COURSE OUTLINE (page 3) 

 

LEARNING OUTCOMES: 

Upon successful completion of this course, students will be able to: 
- Apply information and skill sets to develop an individual research/consultancy project 
- Analyze, synthesize and evaluate business information 
- Create, compose and defend a research/consultancy report 
- Create engaging project presentations to academic and business settings.    

 

METHODS:  

The applied project is student-directed and includes: secondary research; ethnographic (field) research; and, business 
research (market, industrial, legal, operational, financial and human resource) methodologies. Each student will be 
supervised by a faculty member. 
 

METHODS OF OBTAINING PRIOR LEARNING ASSESSMENT RECOGNITION (PLAR): 

 Examination(s)   Portfolio assessment   Interview(s)  
 

 Other (specify):       
 

 PLAR cannot be awarded for this course for the following reason(s): This course builds on unique and original 
research/consultancy with a UFV School of Business faculty and a business/industry organization. Thus PLAR is not 
feasible.  

 

TEXTBOOKS, REFERENCES, MATERIALS: 

Students with their supervisor will compile a reading list needed to develop and conduct their project and to acquire 
research, consultancy and presentation skills. 

 

SUPPLIES / MATERIALS: 

Depending upon the project students may need to procure electronic materials as needed at their own expense. 

 

STUDENT EVALUATION: 

The final project will be based on the following components:* 

1. Completion of the Statement of Work (SOW) (30% of final grade) 
2. Completion of the Report (50% of final grade) 
3. Presentation of project (20% of final grade) 
* see Appendix 
 

COURSE CONTENT: 

Specific content will vary according to the project.  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

March 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 
Draft Agenda Package

Page 14 of 24



 

Appendix               page 4 

 

1. Completion of Work (SOW) 
Business projects are often started using a Statement of Work (SOW). Since BUS 499 Applied Project is a business 
project, a SOW is more appropriate than a Research proposal to outline the study. The SOW will indicate the scope of 
the applied project and will become an agreement among the student, faculty supervisor and organization. It outlines 
what is to be accomplished as well as a timeline for project completion. 
 
 

Section Content 
 

1. Introduction Describes the goals and objectives of the project 
Lists the specific learning objectives. 
Provides the name of the organization, location, contact people and brief description of 
the organization   
 

2. Scope of the work Describes any approvals that need to be conducted (e.g. ethics review) 
Describes in detail the work to be done.  
Specifies when the work is expected to begin and end, time involved, location where 
work is performed and any related scheduling information. 
 

3. Constraints Lists any constraints that may impact the project. 
Lists required support and resources required for the project (e.g. computer support). 
 

4. Deliverable Schedule Outlines a specific timeline with deliverables described in detail and when these are 
due. 
 

5. Standards Describes any organizational, industry or university standards that are relevant to 
performing the work. 
 

6. Criteria Describes how the supervisor and organization determine the project deliverables to be 
acceptable. 
 

7. Special Requirements Outlines any special requirements needed for the project (e.g. travel, language, 
treatment of sensitive information). 
Outlines a project log to record meetings with supervisor and organization. 
 

8. Amendments The SOW is a dynamic document and as such may be modified during the project. 
This section describes any agreed upon changes in the project. 
 

9. Signature Contains the approvals of all stakeholders in the project (e.g. student, faculty, 
organization). 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

March 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 
Draft Agenda Package

Page 15 of 24



 

2. Completion of the Report.                   Page 5 

Applied Project Assessment 
 

Section Area Guidelines 
 

1. Process SOW SOW completed and signed with a schedule for deliverables  
Clear definition of problems, issues or situation 
Clear and feasible objectives. 
Sources of information suitable. 
 

 Management Project log completed 
Deadlines met. 
 

2. Structure Sequencing Logical sequence of material; all sections included (e.g. executive summary, contents, 
appendices, references) 
Argument flow. 
 

 Writing Appropriate style, statements substantiated, spelling, grammar, word use, sentence 
structure, punctuation. 
 

 References Appropriate referencing protocol 
List of references. 
 

 Presentation Word length 
Suitable font, layout, margins, covers 
Figures and tables labeled correctly, discussed and referenced. 
 

3. Method Methodology Suitable methodology employed 
Alternative methodologies considered 
Methodology understood, explained and justified. 
 

 Data and 
information 
collection 

Appropriate methods employed 
Conducted properly 
Data is valid and reliable. 
 

4. Theory Identification Appropriate theoretical underpinning of the project 
Alternative theoretical models considered. 
  

 Literature Adequate range of literature considered 
Appropriate and up-to-date. 
 

 Critical 
Assessment 

Literature approached critically 
Analysis rather than description. 
 

 Independence 
of thought 

Evidence of independent thinking. 

5. Analysis Data and 
information 

Comprehensive, rigorous, valid and persuasive. 

 Discussion Evidence of integration or application of theory to data. 
 

 Conclusion Conclusions follow logically from body of the report 
Limitations of the work acknowledged 
Areas for further research/study identified. 
Cost implications considered (where applicable) 
Recommendations appropriate and justifiable. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

March 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 
Draft Agenda Package

Page 16 of 24



 

UFV Online in 2017 

Five-Year Strategic Plan 

Revised February 2013 

 

The Strategic Directions “Changing Lives, Building Community” established  the goal for UFV “provide 
the best undergraduate education in Canada”; to “be a leader of social, cultural, economic and 
environmentally-responsible development in the Fraser Valley”;  and to “be innovative, entrepreneurial, 
and accountable in achieving our goals.”   

Our strategic directions include commitments to “provide accessible and challenging learning 
experiences,” “provide … practical skills that students require for employment,” “use the best 
pedagogical practices” and “engage students actively”.   This UFV Online Strategic Plan details the 
strategy and objectives of UFV online to achieve the strategic directions over the coming five years.   

With these strategic directions in view, UFV Online proposes that by 2017 UFV will have an online or 
hybrid version of 80% of every courses offered at UFV.  

 

Rationale  

The demand for fully online courses continues to has been increaseing steadily over the past five years. 
Students, with multiple demands on their time and resources, often search first for online courses when 
they timetable each semester. We have sStudents in some departments who can only complete their 
programs as a result of fully online offerings. With the space crunch we experience on the Abbotsford 
Campus, and the desire of students in on our other campuses, including Chandigarh, to complete their 
studies efficiently, online course offerings are an essential element of the course mix at UFV. Indeed, 
oOffering more fully online or hybrid courses will not only solve many of our institutional infra-structure 
issues but also more importantly will meet the changing needs of our student population.  

With access to increasingly sophisticated technology, students expect to have access to media-rich 
learning environments and are expected to produce media-rich assignments. We anticipate students will 
continue to seek alternative modes of engaging with instruction, including pod-casting (vid-casting), 
online supplemental sites for their face-to-face courses, etc. With the efforts to reduce our carbon 
footprint, students will seek closer to home education, and UFV’s catchment area will be visited by high-
quality educational opportunities in the online environment. 

With careful development of our online course offerings, construed as our online campus, students will 
encounter a lively environment with suitable support and adequate challenge to provide the same high 

March 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 
Draft Agenda Package

Page 17 of 24



quality education they already experience in face-to-face settings. As a result of shifts in available 
technology, the tendency on the part of many faculty is to use the hybrid environment, where students 
meet face-to-face for some part of the semester and participate in mandatory online activities for the 
balance of their studies. Pilots are underway to develop this hybrid environment, as well as 
developments in what is referred to as the “flipped” classroom.  

Current Context (excerpt from Teaching and Development Education Plan 2009-2011) 

The Teaching and Development division was created in 2007 with a purpose to build institutional 
capacity in areas that contribute to the future growth, development and support of our students and our 
faculty. Included in this division are the Office of Enrolment Management, the Regional Student 
Transitions Coordinator, the Teaching and Learning Centre, Instructional Media Services, UFV Online, the 
Career Centre, the Assessment Centre and the Writing Centre.  

The major emphasis has been to build programs and services that will improve student retention rates 
between first and second year, with the following ongoing priorities: 

• Enhance  a strong culture of engagement and a focus on students successfully meeting their 
educational and career goals. 

• Build  on our already well established reputation as an institution that focuses on teaching 
excellence and on the integration of research with teaching. 

• Cultivate faculty success at all levels to reinforce our commitment to UFV as a premier learning 
community. 

• Provide mentorship and training on the latest learning technologies and teaching practices.  

The Teaching and Learning Centre is a place that brings together faculty to explore, to learn and to shape 
their ideas with colleagues. Also required are ongoing programs of professional development, whether it 
is on leadership and governance, building a research program, or on internationalizing and indigenizing 
the academy.  

STUDENT ENGAGEMENT 

Many of our students come to us as first generation learners and with an expectation that their 
educational outcomes will support their career aspirations. We also have a large number (40%) of adult 
students, who return to post- secondary education later in life and often for career purposes. Our 
students tend to feel more economic pressure to get through quickly and /or be employed  more hours, 
they have less time to be engaged in activities and services outside the classroom, yet we know student 
engagement is critical to academic success. Student focused engagement and retention programs assist 
our students in meeting their educational and career goals. Experiential learning such as a co-op, 
internships and service learning, for academic credit, can play a critical role in student engagement, 
success and satisfaction and at the same time assists with bridging the economic reality. … We are also 
seeing more part-time and/or mature learners. 

History of UFV ONLINE  

March 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 
Draft Agenda Package

Page 18 of 24



Online courses have been offered, since 1994, by innovators and early adopters. The infusion of funding 
as a result of the CanLearn project in the late 1990s brought early majority adopters into online course 
development and teaching.    

Between 2002 and 2011, online course offerings at U[C]FV grew from 1078 course enrolments in 46 
courses to 4502 course enrolments in 170 sections. The distribution of courses has been heavily 
weighted on the first and second year courses, with a significant reduction in numbers of courses 
offered at the third and fourth year level. For example, in 2005-06, 56 courses were offered at the first 
year level compared to 10 at the fourth year level.  

Another trend has been the rate of student interest in online courses. Fully online courses have 
increased from 29 in Fall 2004 to 59 in Fall 2009 and from two in Spring 2004 to 46 in Summer 2011.  

The PLAN 

Year one: 2012-2013: GOALS 

 Increase course offerings in the online campus from 172 annually with an enrolment of 4500 to 185 
courses fully online. 

 Provide an overview of our current course offerings 

 Select a group of departments for immediate build out of upper level courses:   

o Geography  
o Kinesiology 
o  Psychology,  
o Communications  
o History  
o UUP 

 Complete development of a fully online Master Social Work 

• Develop fully online options for directed independent study and capstone courses  
• Develop fully online options for internship and practicum learning, so students can pursue 

international, community, service and work-place learning at a distance 
• Develop capacity for small-group and discussion-based courses to offer sections with 

participants face-to-face and distance 
o Adult Education 

 Best practices are described and available for faculty developing and teaching courses fully online 
and hybrid 

o BB Learn Introductory, Advanced and Specialty Workshops 
o Best practices sessions led by faculty 
o Individual and department consultations 

March 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 
Draft Agenda Package

Page 19 of 24



• Policies governing practices in the online environment are developed  

Year Two: 2013-14: GOALS 

• Increase course offerings in the online campus from 185 annually to 200 250 fully online and 
hybrid courses. 

• Engage Faculty of Science and Faculty of Health Sciences in a long-range project to develop 
online course offerings, either hybrid or fully online 

o Underway with Health Sciences 
o course development in Faculty of Science 
o significant development of the flipped classroom in Mathematics, UUP  

• Develop five demonstration pod- and vid-casting options, for lecture-based courses 
o Kaltura in a shared-services model with BCcampus and UBC (Summer 2013) 

• Develop e-portfolio options for the PLAR initiative 
o Funding provided by VP Academic for e-portfolio software 

• Develop capacity for supplemental and hybrid activities in 10% of all courses offered in a 
semester  

o Achieved. 150 plus supplementals offered in each of Fall 2012 and Winter 2013 
• E-conferencing of course activity is available on Abbotsford, Chilliwack South, Mission, and Hope 

Campuses 
o achieved 

Year Three: 2014-2015: GOALS 

• Increase course offerings in the online campus from 200 250 annually to 218 300 fully online 
and hybrid courses. 

• Development of online version of every course offered in university transfer courses is at 60% 
completion.  

• Online courses in selected Trades and Technology programs (such as Event Management, for 
example) are in development, with the goal of offering three programs fully online by year five. 

o This goal may be affected by provincial level policies governing Trades programming 
• Biology Faculty of Science and Faculty of Health Sciences offer ten courses fully online in an 

academic year (not including the programming level in KPE) 
• The Hope Centre has a tutor in place to support those learning online who live in the Hope area 

Year Four: 2015-16: Goals 

• Increase course offerings in the online campus from 218 300 annually to  230380 fully online  
and hybrid courses 

• A selected program in Trades is fully online 
• UUP course development is underway,completed,  in order to provide either English, Social 

Studies, or Science and Math at the intermediate and advanced levels (using the Fraser Valley 
Distance Education model) 

March 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 
Draft Agenda Package

Page 20 of 24



• A transition program for aboriginal learners, based at Chehalis, is fully online with a learning 
centre on the north side of the Fraser River, either in Mission, Chehalis, or Seabird Island 

Year Five:  2016-17: GOALS 

• increase course offerings in the online campus from 230 380 annually to  246 450 fully online  
and hybrid courses 

• UFV offers 10080 courses fully online in each of three semesters, with an appropriate1 range of 
1st to 4th year offerings, and UUP, ESL, and Trades courses also available    

• Eighty percent of UFV courses All courses have an online and/or hybrid version and all courses 
are offered online at least once in a three year cycle online. Students select the course based on 
which campus is “closer” to them; therefore, an online course selection is always within their 
perceivable future.  

• Online course offerings are mapped in three-year periods.  
• Students download video-captures of lectures; participate in laboratory work (CIS and Biology) 

at a distance, and work collaboratively in the online environment. 

 

Current Activity 

• Please see Online Course Review, September 19, 2011February 2013 (attached) 

 

Current Resources 

Teaching and Learning, which includes Educational Technology Services (ETS), two Teaching and 
Learning Centres, UFV Online, Supported Learning Group program, and Prior Learning Assessment and 
Recognition, has 9.6 full-time equivalents, a Director, and one .5 faculty member (SLG)  

Of these fte, the equivalent of one position supports our current level of fully online and hybrid courses. 
One staff person is providing design and development support for the online MSW and for courses in 
the History Department, to a 40% work commitment. The remaining .6 fte is currently divided among 
two people.   

 I propose to re-align the duties and responsibilities of one additional fte to meet the support needs 
for our online campus.  

We do not currently offer support for supplemental online course activities.  

 

1 Appropriate level of activity in the online environment is a decision best left with departments, faculty councils, 
Deans, and perhaps Academic Planning and Priorities Committee.  
 

March 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 
Draft Agenda Package

Page 21 of 24



STRATEGIC INFRASTRUCTURE: CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS 

To be fully realized, this Online Campus Plan requires funding support for a number of necessary 
elements: 

• Development funding for new and new to online versions of courses. In the past, external 
funding was secured to support adequate compensation for course design and development. 
With the support of staff in ETS, as instructional designers, the need for compensation has 
diminished. Many faculty members still inquire about compensation for developing fully online 
courses. The funds, and the sources for these funds, continues to be a high priority for the 
Director, Teaching and Learning. 

• robust e-conferencing system (shared services model with BCcampus: $45 000) 

 video conferencing capabilities at all campuses (Mission, Agassiz, Hope, TTC/CEP, Abbotsford, and 
Chandigarh): two portable systems 

 pod- and video-casting capabilities, with streaming audio and video of special events, speakers, 
plenary sessions, lecture series, and key lectures in selected lecture based courses. Much of these 
infrastructure costs are already covered, as UFV has the capability now to stream audio and video. 
Lecture capture on a consistent basis is something the institution has to decide as a priority. The cost for 
such a system is variable, between $50 000 and many hundreds of thousands of dollars.We are entering 
into a shared services model with BCcampus, using Kaltura, hosted at UBC.  

• mobile applications, not only integrated with our learning management system but also our 
website and web-based services. The cost for such connectivity is variable. A solution 
compatible with Blackboard 9.1 is $30 000 per year $1.99 per user per year.  

• enhanced institutional capacity for e-course packs and e-texts . The cost for students would be 
lower with the production of e-course packs created through learning materials already 
available through the databases currently purchased by the Library.  

• development of high quality learning objects (video, audio, lecture capture) for online and 
hybrid courses. The cost of this activity is already borne by the staff of ETS, who are developing 
expertise by building on their existing knowledge of audio and video production and educational 
software.  

 

BUILDING PROCESS: Operational Plan 

 Present this plan to Eric Davis, Provost and VP Academic.  

 Following his direction, take this plan to  

 Deans Council,  

Department Heads,  

March 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 
Draft Agenda Package

Page 22 of 24



 Faculty Councils,  

 Academic Planning and Priorities Committee, 

•  Senate. 

 Integrate this plan with our Strategic Plan, the Budget Plan, HR Plan, Capital and Facilities, the 
Education Plan, and current initiatives such as Student Engagement and Success. 

• With the approval of this plan, services to students in the fully online environment will be 
planned. Writing and Math Centre services, Library services, technological support at a distance, 
and Student Services will all develop fully online capacity to serve students who are learning at a 
distance at UFV.  

 

Dr. Wendy Burton, Director 

Teaching, Learning and Educational Technology Services 

February, 2012 

Revised February 2013 

 

March 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 
Draft Agenda Package

Page 23 of 24



STANDING COMMITTEE MEMBER TERM OF OFFICE
Nominations and Elections Leah Douglas (SWHS) - Chair Two year term to Fall 2013

Glen Paddock (SWHS) Two year term to Fall 2014

Vacancy

Field Placement Maple Melder-Crozier (ECE/CYC) Two year term - review Fall 2014

Sandy Hill (TEP) Two year term - review Fall 2014

Kim Williams (CRIM) - Chair Two year term - review Fall 2014

Gayle Ramsden (Fashion Design) Two year term - review Fall 2014

Jan Lashbrook Green (LIBIT) Two year term - review Fall 2014

Retention Cindy Rammage (ECE/CYC) - Chair Two year term - review Fall 2014

Barbara Salingré (TEP) Two year term - review Fall 2014

Donna Alary (IR) Two year term - review Fall 2014

Kim Milnes (BUS) Two year term - review Fall 2014

Vacancy

Learning Exchange Mike Ivanof (BUS) - Chair Two year term to Fall 2013

Ian Hunt (ADED) Two year term to Fall 2013

Raymond Leung (BUS) Two year term to Winter 2015

Vacancy

Newsletter Christine Slavik (ECE/CYC) - Chair Two year term to Fall 2014

Elizabeth Dow (ECE/CYC) Two year term to Fall 2014

Maple Melder-Crozier (ECE/CYC) Two year term to Fall 2014

Seonaigh Macpherson (ADED) Two year term to Winter 2015
Colleen Bell (Library Designate) Two year term to Winter 2015

 Faculty Council Standing Committees
Representation 2012 - 2013

March 22, 2013 Professional Studies Faculty Council 
Draft Agenda Package

Page 24 of 24





March 2013   


 


 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 


Quality Assurance Framework 
British Columbia 


 
 
 
 


Green Paper 
March 2013 


 
 
 
 
 
 


 







March 2013   


 


 
Executive Summary 
 
British Columbia’s post-secondary education system offers a range of education and training 
options for students. To establish quality education as B.C.’s competitive advantage, the province 
is strengthening quality assurance, which serves as the foundation of the post-secondary 
education system.  
 
The Ministry of Advanced Education, Innovation and Technology (AEIT) began its review of the 
quality assurance framework in late 2011 with public consultations beginning in April 2012. 
During the first phase of the engagement process, students, stakeholders and the public 
provided feedback on the goals and objectives outlined in an initial discussion paper. Building 
upon the feedback, AEIT consulted further with stakeholders on specific ideas to improve 
quality assurance in B.C. including hosting half-day post-secondary education forums to 
facilitate discussions on quality improvement in the system. An expert advisory committee from 
the post-secondary system was formed to further advise the Ministry. The committee’s 
expressed views and ideas of best practice informed the development of the proposals set out 
in this Green Paper.  
 
AEIT’s blueprint for improvement is outlined in this Green Paper. AEIT is proposing a quality 
assurance framework oriented towards continuing quality improvement that is simpler, more 
strategic, and provides greater flexibility. The reforms include a more comprehensive approach 
that affords general oversight of all institutions in the B.C. post-secondary education system, 
streamlined processes, and a “lighter touch” approach for institutions with mature quality 
assessment practices that are in keeping with the expectations of the Quality Assurance 
Maturity Model. In the Quality Assurance Maturity Model, the maturity and effectiveness of 
quality assessment and enhancement processes at an institution determines the level of 
institutional autonomy and independence from external oversight by the quality assurance 
governing body. 
 
The new quality assurance framework would better assure students that the education promised 
to them is the education delivered and that the credentials they earn have value when seeking 
relevant employment or choosing to pursue further education. The student experience will be 
enhanced by providing students with data to make decisions about their educational choices, 
making it easier for students to have concerns relating to the quality of education addressed, 
and safeguarding tuition in the event of institutional closure. 
 
Through this Green Paper, AEIT is once again inviting British Columbians to participate in 
government decision-making as we move towards the next stage in the development of policy 
and regulation as well as potential legislation in 2013. 







March 2013   


 


 


Contents 


 
1. Introduction ............................................................................................................................. 1 


1.1 Purpose of Quality Assurance ...................................................................................... 1 


1.2  Competitive Advantage ................................................................................................. 2 


2.  Case for Change ...................................................................................................................... 4 


2.1  System Evolution........................................................................................................... 4 


2.2  Current Quality Assurance Framework ....................................................................... 5 


2.3  Lessons Learned ........................................................................................................... 7 


3. Review of Quality Assurance Framework ............................................................................ 11 


4. Principles of the New Quality Framework ........................................................................... 13 


5.  Desired State ......................................................................................................................... 15 


6.  Comprehensive Oversight ..................................................................................................... 17 


7.  Alignment with Mandate ...................................................................................................... 18 


8.  Quality Assurance Maturity Model ...................................................................................... 19 


8.1 Quality Assurance Review .............................................................................................. 21 


8.2 Guiding Principles ......................................................................................................... 23 


8.3 Maturity Categories ....................................................................................................... 23 


9.  Designation and Accreditation .............................................................................................. 26 


10.  Qualifications Framework ................................................................................................. 27 


11.  Student Protection .............................................................................................................. 28 


12.  Governance ........................................................................................................................ 31 


12.1  Responsibility of Government ................................................................................. 31 


12.2  Governance Structure ............................................................................................. 32 


12.3  Financing ................................................................................................................ 32 


13.  Next Steps .......................................................................................................................... 34 


13.1  Stakeholders ................................................................................................................. 34 


14.  Glossary ............................................................................................................................. 35 


15.  References .......................................................................................................................... 37 


 


  







March 2013   


Page | 1  
 


1. Introduction 
 
This Green Paper highlights key proposals to improve the quality assurance framework for 
post-secondary education in B.C. as the system continues to grow and develop. Since the 
introduction of the current framework in 2003, the post-secondary environment has been 
typified by continually increasing numbers of education and training programs and expanding 
degree-granting capacity.  In considering the changing environment over the past ten years, the 
Ministry of Advanced Education, Innovation and Technology (AEIT) began a review of the B.C. 
quality assurance framework for post-secondary education in late 2011. Several consultative 
opportunities confirmed that there are many good institutional quality assessment practices in 
the system and that the current framework has brought the B.C. post-secondary education 
system to a leadership position in quality assurance across the country and internationally. In 
order to maintain its leadership role, there is an opportunity to further advance best practices 
and standards within B.C.’s post-secondary education system. 
 
The proposed quality assurance framework is a proactive approach to continuous quality 
improvement in B.C.’s post-secondary education system. B.C. is also in the unique situation of 
having a collaborative post-secondary system where it is possible to embrace opportunities that 
build on the strengths of different institutions and sectors to enhance system quality. 
 


1.1 Purpose of Quality Assurance 
 
B.C.’s post-secondary system is highly regarded and government must ensure the continued 
understanding and recognition of B.C. credentials and the mobility of graduates to pursue 
employment or further studies both in B.C. and around the world. The model proposed would 
strengthen quality assurance processes and practices, appropriately set and consistently apply 
standards across the post-secondary education system, and support quality assurance 
mechanisms such as institutional self-assessment and verification. These changes would benefit 
students and families, educational institutions, employers, citizens, and government. 
 
Students and families would be better assured that the education promised to them is the 
education delivered and that the credentials they earn have value when seeking relevant 
employment and /or when they choose to pursue further education.   
 
Post-secondary education institutions are operating in an increasingly global environment. The 
delivery of post-secondary education is complex and to remain competitive, institutions–in B.C. 
and elsewhere–are continuously adapting to changing technological and fiscal realities. 
Institutions also continue to deal with changing student expectations regarding how and when 
education is to be delivered. They would be expected to remain supportive of a labour market 
that continues to need skilled trades and technical personnel while it also transitions from a 
resource-based industry towards a knowledge-based economy and service sector. In this global 







March 2013   


Page | 2  
 


environment, institutions gain recognition and credibility through the demonstration of strong 
quality assessment practices that are externally validated by government or other competent 
authorities. The quality assurance framework must support innovation and diversity so that 
institutions can demonstrate excellence in education and educational outcomes.  
 
Current or potential employers would be better assured that the post-secondary education 
system graduates students with the right mix of attitudes, skills and knowledge to meet 
employment needs. The BC Jobs Plan predicts that there will be over one million new job 
openings by 2020 and that an additional 18 percent of the population will require some  
post-secondary education to fill the upcoming vacancies.  
 
Citizens would gain more assurance that public investment in post-secondary education is 
oriented toward achieving positive economic and social outcomes for all British Columbians. 
Public trust of the post-secondary education system increases when citizens derive benefit from 
the investments in post-secondary education and the value of post-secondary education is clearly 
articulated.  
 
Government would have increased confidence that the best available evidence had informed its 
decisions and its policy directions were carried out with consistency and fairness across the    
post-secondary sector.  Government’s decision-making processes and the rationale for its 
decisions would be more transparent to ensure that the post-secondary sector and students have 
clear information to enable well-informed educational decisions.   
 


1.2  Competitive Advantage 
 
The BC Jobs Plan and the International Education Strategy confirm that B.C.’s quality education 
has a competitive advantage in the global marketplace. Students are increasingly mobile and 
have many educational choices within B.C., Canada, and internationally. B.C. can be proud of its 
rigorous quality assurance system and the value of a B.C. credential. The B.C. transfer system 
demonstrates a culture of system cooperation that also recognizes institutional differentiation, 
the value of program diversity, and transfer pathways. As B.C. enhances its competitive 
advantage, the province and the sector are able to build on established quality assessment 
practices that would strengthen the post-secondary education system as a whole. 
 
Internationally, Canada is one of the top study destinations for international students. B.C. and 
Ontario attract the greatest number of international students, with each province taking turns 
being the top study destination in Canada. Recently, 90 percent of international students studying 
in B.C. rated the quality of education as important or very important to their choice of country for 
study (Citizenship and Immigration Canada, 2010). In 2011, it was estimated that there were 
94,000 international students pursuing formal post-secondary education in B.C. This accounted 
for approximately 15 percent of the overall educational services in B.C. with a direct contribution 







March 2013   


Page | 3  
 


equivalent to $1.3 billion to the provincial Gross Domestic Product (Rosalyn Kunin & Associates 
Inc., 2011).  
 
Citizenship and Immigration Canada’s planned regulation changes to the Immigration and 


Refugee Protection Act that will have an impact on the International Student Program. Under the 
proposed changes, international students may apply for a study permit only if they have been 
accepted into an educational institution that is designated by the Province as meeting quality 
standards. B.C. has, for some years, focused on quality assurance and pathways for 
international students through the Education Quality Assurance (EQA) brand. Given the 
proposed changes to the International Student Program, it is the opportune time to enhance the 
quality of post-secondary education in B.C. through improvements to the system as a whole. 


  







March 2013   


Page | 4  
 


2.  Case for Change 
 
For B.C. to compete on the basis of quality post-secondary education, it is time to explore a 
quality assurance framework that is oriented towards quality improvement. To position B.C. as 
a centre of post-secondary educational excellence nationally and internationally, we need a 
framework that is: 


 more streamlined and easier for students and families as well as other stakeholders to 
understand and for institutions and government to administer;  


 more strategic to enable a differentiated form and level of external oversight reflecting 
demonstrated maturity of quality assurance practices; and 


 more flexible to foster and recognize innovation in the system.  
 
To enhance confidence in the quality of the post-secondary system in B.C., across Canada and 
internationally, the quality assurance practices outlined in this document are consistent with 
best practice in Canada and internationally. 


2.1  System Evolution 
 
There has been significant change in the system since 2003/04 when the current quality 
assurance framework was first implemented. The public system went through a period of 
reorganization with the establishment of new institutions, designation of some institutions as 
“teaching-intensive universities” and the amalgamation of institutions. In the private sector, 
there were four new B.C.-based degree-granting institutions and a decrease in the number of 
regulated institutions. The decrease was likely due to the deregulation of educational programs 
and the consolidation of some institutions. The number of career training institutions, for 
example, decreased, while the number of students studying at those institutions remained 
relatively steady.  
 
Student mobility has continued to develop, and credit transfer pathway options have been 
expanding. The B.C. transfer system has admitted new private institutions following their 
successful completion of the degree quality assessment process and receipt of ministerial 
consent to offer an associate or higher degree program. As well, outside the transfer system, 
there has been more openness to student pathways between public and private institutions, 
especially regarding international and aboriginal students. 
 


  







March 2013   


Page | 5  
 


 


Table 1   Overview of the current system 
11  Public colleges 
  7  Public teaching-intensive universities 
  4  Public research-intensive universities 
  3  Public institutes 


435,045 total students in the public system.  
1,900 total education and training programs in 
the public system. 


17  Degree-granting institutions authorized 
under the Degree Authorization Act (DAA) 
 Public out-of-province institutions 
 Not-for-profit institutions 
 For-profit institutions 


 


7,400 total students in institutions authorized 
under the DAA. 


66 total education programs in institutions 
authorized under the DAA. 


330 private career training schools 
 Accredited institutions 
 Registered institutions 


51,000 total enrolments in accredited and 
registered institutions. 
2,500 total programs in accredited and 
registered institutions. 


13 private theological institutions1 Unknown number of students and programs. 
Over 40 Aboriginal-controlled institutes Unknown number of students and programs. 
Unknown number of private language schools Unknown number of students and programs. 
Unknown number of private post-secondary 
academic (non-degree granting) institutions 


Unknown number of students and programs. 


 


2.2  Current Quality Assurance Framework 
 
Quality assurance, as undertaken by government, provides the public with reliable information 
to indicate that educational programs meet generally accepted educational standards. It also 
serves students and their families by giving them confidence that institutions deliver on the 
education promised and that the credential has value. Quality assurance also helps align post-
secondary education to the skills, training and attributes employers value. 
 
The quality assurance system is a combination of legislation, regulation, and policy. Currently, 
there are four bodies that evaluate and monitor the quality of post-secondary education 
programs in the province: 
 


 Degree Quality Assessment Board, an Advisory Board to the Minister; 
 Private Career Training Institutions Agency, a Provincial Crown Agency;  
 Industry Training Authority, a Provincial Crown Agency; and 


                                                 
1  Canadian Pentecostal Seminary; Carey Theological College; Christ for the Nations Bible College; Columbia Bible College; 


Pacific Life Bible College; Northwest Baptist Seminary; Okanagan Bible College; Regent College; Seminary of Christ the King; 
St. Andrew’s Hall; St. Mark’s College; Summit Pacific College; Vancouver School of Theology 







March 2013   


Page | 6  
 


 Ministry of Advanced Education, Innovation and Technology, which evaluates 
institutions under the Accountability Framework as well as determines suitability for the 
EQA designation and StudentAid BC (SABC) designation.  
 


The spectrum of quality assurance in B.C. includes a number of separate but related functions, 
including: 
 


 Degree authorization – All institutions undergo an approval process in order to grant 
degrees and in order for private and out-of-province institutions to be designated a 
university in the province. The Degree Quality Assessment Board (DQAB) oversees the 
degree quality assessment process which requires all degree-granting institutions to 
undergo the same quality assessment process. The process includes a self-study and 
engagement of external expert reviewers. It also requires all institutions to meet the 
provincial standards of quality. Within this framework, there is recognition that some 
institutions have mature internal quality assessment policies and practices. Rather than 
duplicating the institution’s effort in quality assessment, these institutions have exempt 
status and exercise autonomy and responsibility for program quality assessment and 
enhancement. These institutions are required to demonstrate a higher and long-standing 
level of internal quality assessment policies and practices. Currently, the exempt status 
review is a one-time review with no follow-up reviews. The DQAB also monitors private 
and out-of-province public institutions operating in B.C. by having yearly visits at select 
institutions as well as comprehensive reviews and re-approval every five years.  
 


 SABC designation – The Ministry of Advanced Education manages all of the student 
financial assistance programs offered by the Province. Currently the student loan 
portfolio is valued at over $900 million. Approximately $229 million in loans is issued 
annually. Institution designation is the process through which post-secondary 
institutions become eligible for government financial assistance programs for students. 
BC public post-secondary institutions are designated through existing legislative 
authority. Private institutions must successfully complete a government-mandated 
quality assurance process, either the accreditation process under the Private Career 


Training Institutions Act or the degree quality assurance processes provided by the 
Degree Authorization Act, as well as be in compliance with the StudentAid BC Policy, to 
be designated. To ensure student and taxpayer protection, continued eligibility for SABC 
designation is assessed through various performance indicators including student loan 
portfolio performance, funded student performance and school performance. 


 
 EQA designation - This represents the B.C. brand for quality post-secondary education. 


Established in 2009, it provides a standard trademark that signals the post-secondary 
institution has completed a government-recognized quality assurance process. The EQA 
designation is used to promote B.C. as an education destination of choice. The EQA 
successfully promotes the B.C. system, especially for smaller institutions that are not well 







March 2013   


Page | 7  
 


known. Some institutions have questioned its value, and there are certain reservations as 
to how meaningful EQA is as to whether a designated institution is indeed a quality one.  


  


 Career Training authorization – The Private Career Training Institutions Act (2003) 
established the Private Career Training Institutions Agency (PCTIA) in 2004. PCTIA has 
authority to regulate private career training institutions2 in B.C. Private career training 
institutions must meet Basic Education Standards as a condition of registration. Private 
career training institutions may also voluntarily commit to higher level standards to achieve 
accreditation with the agency. In 2011/2012, 50 percent of the PCTIA institutions were 
accredited. PCTIA carries out its powers and duties in the public’s best interest.  
 


 Accountability Framework for Public Post Secondary Institutions - The Accountability 
Framework is a set of performance measures used to assess the achievement of goals 
and objectives. The Framework guides the measurement of indicators that, for example, 
indicate whether students receive a quality education relevant to their needs and the 
needs of the labour market, and whether public post-secondary institutions contribute 
to the social and economic development of all B.C. residents.  
 


 ITA Credentials – The Industry Training Authority Act (2003) established the Industry 
Training Authority in 2004 to lead and coordinate BC’s skilled trades system. The ITA 
issues credentials and sets program standards for skilled trades training programs. 


 
 


Each of the aforementioned bodies is responsible for a slightly different, yet related area of 
quality assurance. PCTIA deals with only private institutions and the DQAB works with public 
and private institutions. The DQAB examines the academic quality of degrees, while the AEIT 
considers labour market outcomes and financial sustainability. The different mechanisms 
provide varying degrees of rigour to ensure adherence to quality standards. There are also 
different tuition protection frameworks to ensure that students can continue their education in 
the event of institutional closure. The varying requirements could lead to complexity in 
processes at institutions that offer different types of programs. See Figure 1 for a map of the 
current quality assurance framework. 
 


2.3  Lessons Learned 
 
In the 10 years since the implementation of the current quality assurance framework, system 
quality assurance processes have grown increasingly complex. These processes require the 
same institution to participate in a number of quality evaluations facilitated by different bodies 


                                                 
2  Career Training is defined as credentials at the non-degree level, described in the National Occupational Classification scheme as 


an occupation where the tuition is greater than or equal to $1,000 and the program is longer than or equal to 40 hours. 







March 2013   


Page | 8  
 


with different objectives. The new quality assurance model eliminates these redundancies and 
draws upon lessons learned from the past to inform opportunities for improvement. 
 
The reforms to quality assurance in B.C.’s post-secondary quality assurance policy have the 
potential to establish: 
 


 a more coordinated approach to quality assurance of programs and institutions;  
 coordination of different mechanisms that currently have differing degrees of rigour to 


ensure comparable quality standards across the system;  
 a transparent system that includes a decision-making rationale and provides clear and 


complete messages;  
 alignment of programs and strategic direction across the system in keeping with 


institutional mandates;  
 consistency of reporting requirements and data collection; and  
 processes to enhance government’s ability to meet obligations and facilitate broad 


recognition of BC credentials and quality assurance practices.  
 
There is an opportunity to enhance the system for post-secondary education institutions and 
other stakeholders as B.C. addresses a changing post-secondary environment. Students and the 
public can develop a clearer understanding of the quality assurance system. To understand the 
current system, one must navigate between: 
 


 multiple regulatory bodies recognized by government;  
 EQA designation and SABC designation granted by government;  
 professional and industry association “accreditation” that can be confused with 


government validation; and, 
 some institutions operating with legislative authority while others do not. 







• No Government-Mandated
   Quality Review of these 
    programs
     
   


   
  
  


Degree Programs
Private Institutions


Degree Programs
Public Institutions


Non-Degree Programs
Public Institutions


Non-Degree Programs
Private Institutions


• Certificates
• Diplomas
• Post-graduate credentials 
   
  


• Language programs1
• Academic (non-degree)  
  transfer programs


  


• Programs at or below
  institution exempt level 
• Associate degrees 
   
  


• Programs at or below
  institution exempt level 
• Divinity degrees at
  theological institutions 
 
   
  


• Applied Ministry Review 
• Mandate review of exempt &  
  non-exempt programs
• Peer review in PSIPS of exempt 
  & non-exempt programs
• Exempt & non-exempt  
  programs posted on Ministry 
  website for public comment
  
  


PCTIA


• Career-training programs 
   that are 40+ hours in length
   and are $1,000+ in tuition
     
   


   
  
  


Registered 1, 2


• Exempt & non-exempt  
  programs posted on Ministry
  website for public comment
• Public interest review 
  of exempt & non-exempt 
  programs
   


   
  
  


DQAB 3 DQAB 3


• Applied


• Bachelor


• Master’s


• Doctoral
   
  
  


• Associate


• Applied


• Bachelor


• Master’s


• Doctoral
   
  
  


In
te


rn
al


  
Q


ua
lit


y 
Co


nt
ro


l
M


in
is


tr
y 


Le
ve


l 
Re


vi
ew


G
ov


er
nm


en
t -


 M
an


da
te


d 
Q


ua
lit


y 
Re


vi
ew


     Accreditation
• Self-regulated Professional Associations


• Voluntary Professional Associations
 
    
  


Accredited


PRIVATES (18)
• Degree Authorization Act
• Private Career Training Institutions Act
• Pacific Coast University of Workplace Health Sciences Act
• Sea to Sky University Act (Quest University)
• Trinity Western University Act


• Canadian Pentecostal Seminary Act
• Carey Hall
• Christ College of Canada Society Act
• Columbia Bible College Act
• Northwest Baptist Theological College Act
• Okanagan Bible College Act
• Pacific Life Bible College Act


• Regent College Act
• Seminary of Christ the King Act
• St. Andrew’s Hall Act
• St. Mark’s College Act
• Summit Pacific College Act
• Vancouver School of Theology Act


PUBLICS (4)
• University Act
• College and Institute Act
• Royal Roads University Act
• Thompson Rivers Univrsity Act


Le
gi


sl
at


iv
e


Ac
ts


  
 


El
ig


ib
le


 fo
r S


A
BC


 d
es


ig
na


tio
n


Notes: 
1 Not eligible for SABC designation  3 Review all non-exempt programs and exempt programs only if referred by the Minister.
2 Not eligible for EQA designation


   


El
ig


ib
le


 fo
r E


Q
A


 d
es


ig
na


tio
n


 


• Accountability Framework 


• New programs from colleges
  and teaching universities
  should be posted on PSIPS for
  information sharing  
• Accountability Framework 


• No Ministry Level Review of 
   these programs  


Figure 1:  Quality Assurance Framework


March 2013


Page | 9







March 2013   


Page | 10  
 


In some of these cases, government validates institutional programs and in other cases, there is 
only the perception of government validation. For example, a common assumption is that all 
institutions operating with legislative authority are evaluated and monitored for program 
quality. This may not be the case, and neither is it the case that if a program or institution is 
accredited, it is recognized by government as offering quality programs. Confusion about how 
the quality assurance system works complicates students’ ability to make informed decisions on 
the quality of a particular program or institution.  
 
For institutions, administrative inefficiencies can potentially be streamlined through policy or 
regulation change. This benefits institutions by leading to process timeliness and cost benefits 
without compromising quality for students.  
 
The current quality assurance framework is effective and has ensured that, since 2003/04, the 
quality of educational programs in most institutions has been maintained or enhanced. It is the 
opportune time and climate to continue the evolution by making improvements that are 
consistent with good practices, relevant to the B.C. environment, and facilitate quality 
enhancement for the system as a whole.   


  







March 2013   


Page | 11  
 


3. Review of Quality Assurance Framework 
 
In late 2011, AEIT initiated an internal review of the quality assurance framework for 
post-secondary education with the intention of improving institutional quality as well as 
improving administration of the quality assurance framework. The review identified gaps in the 
regulatory system that put students and the reputation of B.C.’s post-secondary education 
system at risk and inefficient processes that could be improved upon. AEIT observed that 
institutions faced a number of different evaluations of quality, facilitated by different bodies 
with differing objectives.  
 
Beginning in April 2012, AEIT engaged with students, stakeholders and the public on the goals 
and objectives outlined in an initial discussion paper. Building upon the feedback, AEIT 
consulted further with stakeholders on specific ideas to improve quality assurance in B.C. 
including hosting half-day post-secondary education forums to facilitate discussions on quality 
improvement in the system.  
 
During the summer and fall of 2012, AEIT reviewed over 100 submissions from institutions, 
students, associations and private individuals and met with over 100 practitioners from the 
higher education community. The views and ideas received during this consultation period have 
informed the development of the framework set out in this Green Paper.   
 
Several suggestions were consistently made: 
 


 apply quality assurance across the broad spectrum of institutions and programs in the 
post-secondary education system; 


 make standards, criteria and processes transparent; 
 recognize diversity and differentiation in the system; 
 focus on increasing efficiency and effectiveness of quality assurance processes; and 
 build on the strengths of the current system. 


 
Finally, the consultations indicated the need to engage effectively with the system and partner 
with institutions in the development of the quality assurance framework.  
 
As well, AEIT considered previous government reports and research relevant to quality 
assurance, such as:  
 
 Degree Process Review Report (Stubbs Report) (2011) - Through extensive consultation with 


stakeholders, the report provides 35 recommendations with the themes of greater transparency, 
consistency, data collection, process improvements, system coordination and periodic institutional 
reviews.  
 







March 2013   


Page | 12  
 


 Private Career Training Institutions Act Review (Watson Report) (2008) – An independent review of 
the Private Career Training Institutions (PCTI) Act was undertaken in the summer and fall of 2007. In 
addition to enhancing outcomes-based quality assurance and institutional commitment to continuous 
improvement, the final report recommends streamlining policies, procedures and practices between 
the PCTI Act and the Degree Authorization Act and exploring the potential for a single act. 


 
 Canadian Degree Qualifications Framework - Council of Ministers of Education, Canada (CMEC) 


(2007) - The framework describes degree categories and sets out degree-level standards. This 
framework provides a context for identifying how degree credentials compare the levels and 
standards among jurisdictions. The intent is to facilitate continuous improvement, educate and train 
an internationally competitive workforce, and foster international recognition of the quality of 
Canadian credentials. 
 


 Campus 2020:  Thinking Ahead Report (2007) – The report on higher education in  
B.C. notes that concern for quality applies to degrees and other credentials and to both public and 
private institutions. It recommends comprehensive and comprehensible mechanisms for quality 
assurance.  


 
 Designation Policy Framework – Intergovernmental Consultative Committee on Student Financial 


Assistance (2007) - The Framework provides a guide for establishing a common approach to the 
designation policies implemented in each jurisdiction across Canada. The Framework is guided by 
four principles: taxpayer protection; accountability and informed choice; consumer protection; and 
complementarity to other postsecondary education policies. 


 
 Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)/United Nations Educational 


Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) Guidelines for Quality in Cross-Border Education 


(2005) – The Guidelines provide an international framework to protect students and other 
stakeholders from low-quality provision when operating in another country. As Canada is a member 
of the OECD, there is an expectation that member countries adopt the guidelines and abide by 
them.  
 


This Green Paper is the B.C. government’s initial response to the feedback from the 
consultations and sets out the fundamentals for change. In addition to respondents through the 
consultation process to date, the Assistant Deputy Minister Expert Advisory Committee 
(“Committee”), established in October 2012, is also providing valuable expert advice to the 
Ministry on several improvements outlined in the Green Paper. 


 
  







March 2013   


Page | 13  
 


4. Principles of the New Quality Framework 
 
AEIT proposes a path forward that continues to build on the strengths of the system and the 
knowledge of quality assurance within institutions. The culture of quality improvement across 
the system is at various levels of understanding and application. Some institutions in B.C. have 
mature internal quality improvement practices with over 50 years of experience and have the 
opportunity to model best practices for institutions that are newer in the sector. A logical next 
step for the evolution of the quality assurance framework is to adopt a “lighter touch” 
approach to external oversight for institutions demonstrating mature policies and practices for 
quality assessment and improvement while promoting and enabling continuous quality 
improvement for the remaining institutions.  
 
When designing the new quality assurance framework, the following principles were applied:  
 


 The quality assurance framework facilitates the process of quality improvement in the 
institutions and the system. The framework enables continuous improvement at the 
institutions by incentivizing good practice and therefore elevating system quality. 


 
 The quality assurance framework requires a minimum administrative burden on 


institutions and government necessary to achieve the quality assurance goals. 
Evaluation and approval processes are timely, streamlined and draw upon institutional 
processes when practical, to minimize the costs to institutions and to government.  


 
 The quality assurance framework works within the context of the institutional mandate 


as defined by government and the institution, and respects the rights and privileges of 
institutions. Fidelity to mandate allows institutions to leverage those program areas in 
which they excel. Coordination of institutions and programming, where appropriate, 
helps to ensure that students have reliable access to relevant programming.  


 
 The quality assurance framework is based on the maturity of institutional quality 


assessment policies and practices, reflecting the whole spectrum of quality within the 
institution, including academic and administrative quality and fulfillment of institutional 
mission and mandate. Institutions that demonstrate maturity through a history of 
strong quality assessment would be externally reviewed with less intensity and less 
frequency. The opposite holds true for institutions that do not have a strong history of 
verifiable practices.  
 


 The quality assurance framework follows good practice to facilitate national and 
international recognition. As education becomes more internationalized, so do 
expectations of an improved post-secondary quality assurance framework. With more 
international and domestic students studying in B.C., it is important that the education 







March 2013   


Page | 14  
 


received here is recognized by other jurisdictions, that the standards are clear and 
understandable, and that institutions are meeting Provincial standards. As all institutions 
in B.C. are not well known internationally, other jurisdictions will look to external 
validation either from government or from a government recognized quality assurance 
body.  


  







March 2013   


Page | 15  
 


5.  Desired State 
 
In the desired state there is a common, coherent framework that accommodates the spectrum 
of institutions in the differentiated and diverse B.C. post-secondary education system. The 
framework covers both public and private post-secondary institutions and requires that all 
institutions undergo quality assurance processes using clearly articulated standards and criteria 
that are appropriate to the institution’s mission and mandate. Equitable treatment of 
institutions engenders public and institutional trust that the assessment and outcomes are fair 
and that the processes and procedures facilitate consistent decision-making.  
 
In the desired state, the framework is overseen by a single quality assurance structure that 
relies on expert judgement to conduct institutional and program evaluations using well 
specified and transparent measures of quality that support a differentiated and diverse system. 
The evaluation criteria are consistently applied and transparent, to the point where institutions 
can predict the result before they are externally evaluated. Evaluations are evidence-based and 
the results inform multiple decisions such as SABC designation, EQA designation and the ability 
to enrol international students.  


Table 2: Current State vs. Desired State 
 


 


 
 
 
 



DaoLuu

New Stamp







March 2013   


Page | 16  
 


Quality assurance will focus on ensuring four areas of quality: 
 


1. Academic Quality 
In assessing academic quality, evaluations would focus on whether the institution has 
appropriate policies and procedures for program quality assessment and applies them 
consistently; whether the institution has the faculty and staff to deliver the proposed 
program; and whether the institution has the support services and infrastructure to 
facilitate student success. 


2. Operational Capacity 
In assessing operational capacity, evaluations would focus on whether the institution 
has appropriate and well functioning governance structures and the financial resources 
to sustain quality programs. 


3. Student Experience 
In assessing this dimension of quality, the focus would be on the relevance of the skills 
and knowledge they gained, student satisfaction with the quality of instruction they 
received, and the impact of their education on their labour market outcomes. 


4. Fit with Mission and Mandate  
In assessing this dimension of quality, the focus would be on fidelity to mission and 
mandate, as established jointly by the institution and government. 


 
It will be the responsibility of the quality assurance body to assess academic and operational 
quality, as it is appropriate to the predetermined mission and mandate of the institution. In the 
desired state, institutional mission and mandate is a negotiated agreement between 
government and the institution. The institution agrees to leverage its areas of excellence by 
undertaking program expansion within the parameters of its mission and mandate. 
Government assesses mandate alignment for new programs but will not make judgments on 
the academic or operational quality.  


  







March 2013   


Page | 17  
 


6.  Comprehensive Oversight  
 
The new quality assurance model would be applied to the entire post-secondary education 
system with some adjustments being made to reflect the diversity of the system. This is in 
keeping with feedback received during the consultations where the post-secondary education 
system stated clear support for all types of institutions offering post-secondary education to fall 
within the government mandated quality assurance framework. Under the new framework, 
students can be assured of their rights and be assured of the validity of their credentials. 
 
The system, as a whole, benefits when all institutions engage in good quality assessment 
practices. AEIT proposes that the quality assurance framework include these sectors: 


 Public post-secondary institutions; 
 Private degree-granting institutions;  
 Private career training schools; 
 Private theological institutions; 
 Private language schools; 
 Private post-secondary academic (non-degree granting) institutions; and, 
 Aboriginal-controlled institutes.  


 
There would be equitable treatment of the sectors, but evaluations and processes would reflect 
differentiation and diversity in the system. Evaluations would be evidence and expert based, as 
appropriate to the program, the institution’s mission and mandate, and the sector. Evaluation 
results would reflect the institution’s demonstrated quality. 


  







March 2013   


Page | 18  
 


7.  Alignment with Mandate 
 
As the single most important investor in public post-secondary institutions and a substantial 
source of funding for private post-secondary institutions, government has an obligation to 
ensure public accountability, responsible stewardship and continued confidence in the system 
and its capacity to meet the social, economic and educational needs of British Columbians. A 
diverse and differentiated post-secondary education system ensures that a broad range of 
educational choices and opportunities are available to learners in various stages of their lives.  
 
The institution’s mission and mandate establishes the parameters within which the quality 
assurance body assesses the institution’s academic and operational quality. In the public 
system, the mandate may exist partly in legislation and partly in government guidance. In the 
private sector, mandate derives from the regulatory process that verifies the quality of a 
specific educational program. Fidelity to mandate across the post-secondary education system 
provides a diverse range of educational options and elevates system quality by allowing 
institutions to focus on program areas where the institution has demonstrated capacity and 
excellence.  


  







March 2013   


Page | 19  
 


8.  Quality Assurance Maturity Model 
 
The heart of the quality assurance framework is the Quality Assurance Maturity Model, which 
demonstrates organizational commitment to quality assurance. Maturity, as a measure of an 
organization’s capabilities for quality improvement, has its basis in the Capability Maturity 
Model (CMM) developed by the Software Engineering Institute at Carnegie Mellon University.  
Maturity is defined as “the extent to which a specific process is explicitly defined, managed, 
measured, controlled, and effective” (Paulk, Curtis, Chrissis, & Weber, 1993, p. 4). The model 
describes a developmental path that begins with ad hoc, immature processes and ends with 
mature, disciplined processes. Institutional maturity increases as organizations institutionalize 
their processes via policies, standards, and organizational structures. Transition from one level 
of maturity to another is incremental, with each level of maturity providing a foundation to 
support successive improvements. CMM has been adapted and applied in numerous other 
fields (see for example Maier, Moultrie, & Clarkson, 2012).  
 
AEIT would adopt the fundamental concepts of CMM, specifically the concept of organizational 
maturity and a five-level framework, and adapt them for the B.C. context. In the Quality 
Assurance Maturity Model, the maturity and effectiveness of quality assessment processes at 
an institution determine the level of institutional autonomy and independence from external 
oversight by the quality assurance governing body. An institution’s maturity level is a reflection 
of the maturity of its policies and practices in quality assessment and improvement, rather than 
a reflection of how long the institution has been operating. The quality assurance body would 
administer the model and undertake assessments of academic and operational quality against 
the institution’s predetermined mission and mandate.  
 
Post-secondary institutions would participate in a self-study process that promotes  
self-awareness and enables continuous improvement. Participating in these processes would 
enable B.C. post-secondary education institutions to realize their potential for excellence. By 
assessing their current state, institutions would be encouraged to measure and promote quality 
and strive for best practice and continuous commitment to quality. It is expected that there 
would be post-secondary institutions that have varying degrees of quality that range from a 
lack or minimal awareness of quality assessments to best practices. Some institutions would be 
in the defining quality phase, some identifying approaches to measuring quality and some 
critically comparing themselves against higher education quality throughout the world.  
 
Institutions would undertake a self-assessment to ascertain their level of current practice: 
 
Level 5  Best Practices in Quality Assurance  


I. Organizational focus is on regular reviews of quality assessment processes and other 
related processes to ensure coherence and continuous quality improvement.  







March 2013   


Page | 20  
 


II. Organization engages in proactive problem identification with a focus to improving 
process effectiveness through the use of quality improvement metrics and 
benchmarking against world institutions. 


III. A culture of quality and quality improvement is embedded in the institution. 
IV. Quality assessment of programs is comprehensive, periodic, follows established 


processes and is externally validated. Institution continually engages in comprehensive 
program renewal. 


 
Level 4  Good Practice in Quality Assurance  


I. Organizational focus is on systematic application of quality standards, processes and 
practices.  


II. Organization establishes quality improvement metrics and engages in proactive problem 
identification. 


III. Responsibility for quality assessment is organization-wide with accountability structures 
to evaluate and execute established processes. 


IV. Quality assessment of programs is periodic, consistently follows established processes 
and is externally validated. Institution engages in program renewal. 


  
Level 3  Maturing in Quality Assurance Practices 


I. Organizational focus is on refining and documenting internal quality standards and 
goals, processes and practices.  


II. Organization engages in primarily proactive problem solving to seek quality 
improvements.  


III. Responsibility for quality assessment is centralized within the organization and 
becoming more systematic. 


IV. Internal institutional quality assessment of programs is primarily driven by key quality 
indicators established by an external body. 


 
Level 2  Basic Awareness of Quality Assurance Practices 


I. Organizational focus is on defining internal quality standards and goals, processes, and 
practices. 


II. Organization engages in primarily reactive problem solving, often in response to a 
regulatory body.  


III. Responsibility for quality assessment is dependent upon the individual. 
IV. Institutional quality assessment of programs is inconsistent. 


 
Level 1  Lack or Minimal Awareness of Quality Assurance Practices 


I. Organizational quality processes and practices are informal and ad hoc. 
II. Organization engages in reactive problem solving, often in response to a regulatory 


body.  
III. Responsibility for quality assessment is informal and is dependent upon the individual.  
IV. Institutional quality assessment of programs is ad hoc. 







March 2013   


Page | 21  
 


 
Key Practices that Influence Maturity Level: 


 Self-evaluation and external quality verification; 
 Involvement of external experts; 
 Internal and external stakeholders are included in the quality assessment and quality 


improvement processes; and  
 Ability to achieve recognized accreditation or certification for professional programs. 


 
As shown in Figure 2, the model instills continuous improvement and provides incentives, such 
as access to SABC, to institutions that demonstrate a commitment to quality.  
 


8.1 Quality Assurance Review 
 
The institution’s maturity classification would determine the degree and frequency of external 
oversight. The quality assurance review process would be based on an evaluation framework. 
The maturity level of an institution’s quality assessment processes and practices would impact 
both the type of program review and the number of reviews the institution could face. 
Institutions classified at and progressing to the highest maturation levels would gain greater 
autonomy and responsibility for program quality assessment.  


The proposed levels of evaluation for each maturity level are:  


Level 1 and Level 2 Institutions: For these institutions, the emphasis would be on monitoring 
and reviewing the institutions themselves rather than simply monitoring the internal quality 
assessment processes and practices. Programs will require quality approval and would be 
periodically subject to re-review. 


Level 3 Institutions: Level 3 institutions, after the initial program approval, would face a process 
review rather than a program review. These institutions have an internal quality assessment 
process with some processes for external feedback and verification of quality. However, these 
processes are not as robust as those institutions in the upper levels, thus the review for these 
institutions would be more frequent process reviews. Institutions in this level would begin to 
see a reduction in costs associated with external monitoring. 







 


   Eligible for EQA Gold Designation
Eligible for SABC Designation


Eligible to Enrol International Students 


Level of Monitoring High


Pr
oc


es
s 


M
at


ur
ity


High


Eligible for EQA Designation
Eligible for SABC Designation


  Eligible to Enrol International Students


 


Eligible for SABC Designation
  Eligible to Enrol Interntional
                                       Students             


 


Increase Autonomy Over Quality Assessment Processes


Level 5   Best Practice
Culture of continuous improvement.
Focused on improving process 
e�ectiveness.
A model for other institutions.


Level 4   Good Practice
Focused on systematic application of standards, 
processes and practices. 
Organization-wide responsibility for quality assurance.
Internal reviews are periodic and externally validated.


Level 3   Maturing 
Focused on re�ning and documenting internal processes.
Primarily proactive problem-solving to seek quality improvements.
Departmentalized responsibility for quality assurance.
Internal quality assessment process is primarily driven by external bodies.


Level 2   Basic Awareness
Focused on de�ning internal quality standards, processes and practices. 
Primarily reactive problem-solving, often in response to external bodies.
Responsibility for quality assessment is dependent upon the individual.
Internal assessment of program quality is inconsistent.


Level 1   Lack or Minimal Awareness 
Processes and practices are informal and ad-hoc. 
Problem-solving is reactive, often in response to a regulatory body.
Responsibility for quality assessment is informal and is dependent upon the individual.
Internal assessment of program quality is ad hoc.


Figure 2:  New Quality Assurance Framework


March 2013


Page | 22







March 2013   


Page | 23  
 


Level 4 and Level 5 Institutions: Level 4 and 5 institutions would face a process review rather 
than a program review. As these institutions have mature internal quality assessment processes 
and practices with well-developed systematized processes for external review and verification 
of quality, they would face low frequency periodic reviews of their internal quality 
improvement processes and periodic checks of completed program reviews. These periodic 
checks would be random, focusing on a certain percentage of completed program reviews 
every period. The periodic checks would assess the suitability of the institution’s internal review 
processes but would not second guess the review itself. Institutions in these levels would have 
minimal costs for external quality evaluation. 


 
8.2 Guiding Principles 
 
To guide systematic decision-making, the Assistant Deputy Minister Expert Advisory Committee 
developed guiding principles to consider when implementing the maturity model. Policies, 
processes and procedures should be: 
 


 Efficient, timely and effective; 
 Transparent at the level of institutions and the quality assurance regulatory body; 
 Encouraging and rewarding continuous quality improvement; 
 Fair, inclusive and equitable within shared general guidelines for quality assurance 


practices and standards by respecting different institutional roles, mandates, and 
capacities; 


 Flexible in responding to change, allowing innovation, and recognizing a diversity of 
institutional approaches; 


 Conducive to recognition of credentials by educational institutions and the marketplace 
(i.e., employees, employers and professional associations) in B.C., Canada and 
internationally; 


 Rigorous in application and reinforcement of quality standards across the system; and 
 Guided by best practices in quality assurance, nationally and internationally.  


 


8.3 Maturity Categories 
 
The Committee agreed that institutions should be assessed in areas that are determined to be 
critical for ensuring institutional ability and capacity to deliver quality programs. Government 
would use the results of an externally validated self-study report compiled by the institution to 
determine the level of an institution’s quality assurance maturity. An evaluation model would 
promote good practice in institutional quality assessment, management and improvement. 
Each set of metrics, using academic and financial measures, provides a different view of the 
institution.  







March 2013   


Page | 24  
 


 
The Committee proposed the following categories and objectives be used for evaluating 
institutional maturity: 
 


1. Program Quality  
Objective:  


 Institution has strong internal program quality assurance policies, structures and 


processes for program design, implementation, review and enhancement. 
 


2. Faculty and Staff 
Objective:  


 Institution has the human capital to achieve its mandate and mission. 
 


3. Governance  
Objective:  


 Institution has the governance structure and processes to enable provision of 


quality education. 
 


4. Students  
Objective:  


 Students are appropriately recruited and receive the education articulated by the 


institution and are supported to succeed. 
 


5. Innovation and Change Management 
Objective:  


 Institutions are proactive in enhancing educational quality and relevance. 


 


6. Sustainability 


Objective:  


 Institution has the financial resources to implement and maintain high quality 


programs.  


 


7. External Stakeholders 


Objective:  


 Stakeholders benefit from the social and economic outcomes of higher education. 
 


 
  







March 2013   


Page | 25  
 


Figure 3: Categories of Maturity Assessment 


 


 
 
 
 
Using multiple measures would help both the institution and the quality assurance body 
recognize successes and shortcomings. It is anticipated that each institution’s performance 
would reflect its areas of strength as well as identify areas that require improvement. The 
results could be used by institutions as a guide for continuous quality improvement. As a 
monitoring tool, it would provide external accountability by communicating to internal and 
external stakeholders how the institution translates its mission into practice.  
 
Institutions would continue to define and implement their own internal quality assessment and 
improvement processes in accordance with their mission and institutional culture. Also, in 
keeping with their maturity classification, all institutions would undergo assessment or 
monitoring based on common standards and criteria that are adaptable to the diverse and 
differentiated contexts of individual institutions. A coherent framework would enable good 
practices in B.C.’s post-secondary education quality assurance and mitigate high risk practices 
that might lead to institutional failure or damage to the reputation of the system.  


  


Quality 
Assurance 


Program 
Quality 


Faculty & 
Staff 


Governance 


Innovation  


&  


Change 


Mgmt 


Stakeholders 


Sustainability 


Students 







March 2013   


Page | 26  
 


9.  Designation and Accreditation 
 
The framework would base eligibility for EQA designation and SABC designation on the 
institution’s maturity classification. The framework also builds in designation to enrol 
international students with eligibility based on the institution’s maturity classification (see 
Figure 2). This supports changes to the federal government’s International Student Program, 
which require the provinces and territories to designate institutions eligible to enrol 
international students and only students attending designated institutions will be issued a 
student visa.  
 
Beginning at Level 3, institutions automatically qualify for SABC designation and designation to 
enrol international students. Beginning at Level 4, institutions automatically qualify for EQA 
designation. The model streamlines the processes for determining designation thereby 
reducing the regulatory burden for institutions and lessening the administrative effort for AEIT. 
 
Throughout the consultation process, institutions voiced a desire for accreditation to signal that 
an institution has successfully completed the recognized quality assurance process. Previous 
government reports, Campus 2020 (2007) and the Degree Process Review (2011), have also 
raised the issue of accreditation and the need to explore an accreditation system for  
B.C. An accreditation process may eventually be built into the quality assurance model where 
the length of institutional accreditation can be tied to the level of institutional maturity in 
quality assessment. Additional discussion is needed to explore this idea. 


  







March 2013   


Page | 27  
 


10.  Qualifications Framework 
 
B.C. post-secondary system degree level credentials (associate degrees through doctoral 
degrees) already follow well-established general credit and outcomes guidelines that are in 
keeping with the Council of Ministers of Education, Canada (2007) Ministerial Statement on 
Quality Assurance of Degree Education in Canada. Shared understanding and implementation in 
practice across B.C. institutions have helped to facilitate a well-articulated system for degree 
level education. AEIT has begun working with the system to develop general credit and 
outcomes guidelines on a system-wide basis for the broad range of certificates and diplomas 
that are available. The guidelines have been developed to provide greater understanding about 
the credentials, their primary purposes, range of duration, and intended outcomes. 
 
To help clarify credential entry and exit points and program progression pathways across 
institutions and sectors where appropriate, and to enhance understanding of B.C. credentials 
outside our jurisdiction, AEIT is working with institutions and other stakeholders to develop a 
framework for recognition of general outcomes achieved by sub-degree level post-secondary 
credentials in B.C. An integrated Qualifications Framework would add the guidelines and 
outcomes that are developed for sub-degree credentials to those existing for degree-level 
education in order to provide a comprehensive overview of B.C. post-secondary credentials. 


 
  







March 2013   


Page | 28  
 


11.  Student Protection 
 
There will be a continued commitment to strong student rights and safeguards. In the maturity 
model, monitoring and enforcement efforts focus on institutions at lower levels of the Quality 
Assurance Maturity Model to ensure these institutions have the capacity to deliver the 
educational programs articulated in their public materials. While external oversight for 
institutions with more mature quality assessment practices will be less intensive, they will need 
to demonstrate that their programs continually meet or exceed Provincial quality standards. 
 
AEIT will propose basic principles for tuition refund policies across the entire post-secondary 
education system. Students attending public institutions are assured of tuition protection in the 
case of institutional closure given public stewardship of the post-secondary education system. 
23 of the 25 public post-secondary institutions are insured through the Province’s overall 
insurance program offered by the Ministry of Finance. The remaining institutions participate in 
a cross-Canada insurance program with other universities. These programs offer the types of 
insurance coverage required in the day-to-day operations of public post-secondary institutions, 
and therefore, institutions generally do not need additional insurance coverage. 
 
To provide students in the private post-secondary education system with an equivalent level of 
tuition protection in the case of institutional closure, a sector fund consisting of contributions 
from private post-secondary institutions will be continued in the new quality assurance 
framework. All private institutions under the new Quality Assurance Framework, such as 
theological institutions, private language schools, Aboriginal controlled institutes, private post-
secondary academic (non-degree granting) and private career-training institutions, will 
contribute to the sector fund. Students attending these institutions will have their tuition 
protected in the event of institutional closure. Claim processes for the sector fund will be 
transparent and timely, and eligible students can request a partial or full tuition refund in the 
event of an institution’s closure prior to program completion or if the institution has been 
found to have misled the student. In the case of institutional closure, students will also be 
assisted in finding an alternative institution to complete their program to mitigate the student’s 
lost time and money.   
 
To secure student tuition, an “insurance model” would be used where private institutions 
would contribute a percentage of tuition revenue into a sector fund. A single model for tuition 
protection would streamline the financial protection for students by expanding the insurance 
model under the Private Career Training Institutions Act to apply to institutions under the 
Degree Authorization Act as well as to institutions that were not previously regulated. 
Currently, there varying levels of tuition protection for students depending on the type of 
educational program (see Table 3). 
  







March 2013   


Page | 29  
 


 


Table 3:  Current Tuition Protection for Students  


 
 Financial Instrument Tuition Protection 


 Student Tuition 
Completion Fund 


(“insurance model”) 


Bond Tuition Refund 
Institution Closes 


Tuition Refund 
Student is Misled 


Private Career Training 
Institutions Act                 
Career-Training Institutions 


    


Degree Authorization Act 
Private Degree-Granting 
Institutions 


    


Private Language Institutions & 
Other Unregulated Institutions     


 
Under the new model, students attending a private post-secondary education institution can 
expect consistent standards of tuition protection and expect timely tuition refunds, which is not 
the case currently with the bonding mechanism under the Degree Authorization Act or no 
regulated tuition protection for students studying at English as a Second Language schools.  
 
Streamlining the financial protection requirements is also advantageous to institutions. 
Institutions that offer both career and academic programming will realize reduced 
administrative costs and burdens. Private degree-granting institutions will not have their assets 
tied up as can be the case with the current bonding mechanism under the Degree Authorization 


Act. Under the new model, all private institutions would be expected to meet the same 
provincial standards for tuition protection. A single model of administrating tuition protection 
supports consistent decision-making for students and institutions, making BC a more attractive 
destination for learners and businesses.  
 
In keeping with the maturity model, institutions’ contributions to the fund would recognize the 
institution’s demonstrated commitment to quality. Institutions would contribute a percentage 
of tuition revenue to the fund; however, institutions at higher maturity levels would contribute 
at a discounted rate that reflects the maturity of the institution’s quality assessment and 
improvement processes. As institutions’ quality assessment and improvement policies, 
standards and practices mature, the financial contributions and compliance costs would reduce, 
providing incentives for continuous improvement of the sector.  
 
Protections for international students would be enhanced by expanding the regulatory scope to 
include a broader range of institutions, such as private language schools where the majority of 
international students are enrolled. Under the new model, private language schools would 







March 2013   


Page | 30  
 


meet Provincial standards of quality and would be held to Provincial standards for protection of 
student tuition. In addition, only institutions that demonstrate at least a Level 3 maturity would 
be designated by B.C. as eligible to enrol international students in order to ensure international 
students have the best possible education experience.  
 
Public and private institutions would also be expected to have a complaint process that is easily 
accessible to students and clearly outlines the process to resolve complaints relating to the 
quality of education that is delivered. The complaint process will be underpinned by commonly 
agreed upon principles and informed by best practices found in the BC post-secondary 
education system. Students, regardless of the institution they are attending, will have a 
mechanism at the institution to have their concerns addressed. Beginning in 2013, students will 
also have access to a comprehensive website that outlines clear information on the avenues 
available to students should they have concerns regarding the quality of their post-secondary 
education. The website will cover all types of institutions and provide links to avenues for 
assistance at each institution, making it easier for students to pursue resolution to their 
concerns.  


  







March 2013   


Page | 31  
 


12.  Governance 
 
In June 2012, the Ministry sent consultation workbooks to approximately 395 stakeholders. 
Included in the guide were specific questions regarding the possible structure of a new 
governance body to administer the quality assurance framework. The comments received 
indicated that a single structure would be most effective.  
 
The general principles relating to the capacity and structure of the program quality review are:  


 A program review body with an internal structure reflecting sector differentiation. 
 A balance of expertise across the various educational sectors, with sufficient degree of 


sector-specific and degree-level appropriate expertise, to provide oversight for each 
sector/type of program.  


 A variety of expertise at various program or credential levels, that is also reflective of 
the diverse B.C. post-secondary system.   


 Broad understanding of the post-secondary system, specific programs and sectors. 
 Access to outside expertise as required.  


 
In addition, government has a clear need to review programs with respect of institutional 
mandate and provincial need. 


 


12.1  Responsibility of Government 
 
A key consideration in determining a governance structure for quality assurance is the role and 
responsibilities of government in ensuring standards and operations are in the public interest. 
 
The following are government’s prime objectives for a new Quality Assurance Framework and 
governance structure: 
 


 Efficient processes streamlined with related government functions - Government 
determines suitability for other designations or benefits provided to the institution such 
as EQA designation, SABC designation and designation to enrol international students. 
The goal is to build the framework so that the objectives of related reviews are 
encompassed under a single framework.  


 Public interest served in the setting of policy, standards and indicators – Strengthening 
quality across the post-secondary education sector requires government to set policies, 
standards and indicators to ensure that the public interest is served.  


 Neutral evaluative and decision-making processes – The Quality Assurance Framework 
must meet international expectations and respect the academic independence in 
knowledge development within institutions. The process of review must be expert-led, 
transparent and neutral.  







March 2013   


Page | 32  
 


 Reasonable, incentivizing costs to institutions – The governance structure operates 
effectively while ensuring the reasonableness of financial costs to the institution. The 
funding model would be based on the graduated maturity model. Institutions with 
mature quality assessment practices would have lower fees and costs, while institutions 
with developing quality assessment practices would have relatively greater costs.  


 Investigation, audit and regulatory decisions effectively carried out – The continued 
success of the Quality Assurance Framework requires effective monitoring and reviews 
on a regular basis and more substantive investigation when necessary. Generally, the 
depth and breadth of reviews would be relative to the maturity level of the institution.  


 Operations primarily focus on the benefits for students and the public interest –  
Students have the benefit of information to make their educational choices and receive 
the education promised for personal learning and expertise. In addition, benefits are 
realized by their families, their employers and society. 


 Maintain appropriate levels of institutional autonomy – The legislative rights and 
privileges of institutions would continue to be respected under the new Quality 
Assurance Framework. 
 


12.2  Governance Structure 
 
Governance of the new Quality Assurance Framework will involve cooperation between 
government and a program review body. 
 
Government would: 


 Ensure that government’s key objectives are accomplished by setting policy, standards 
and indicators that institutions are required to meet in the maturity model.   


 Establish the quality assurance maturity level of individual institutions. 
 Set broad mandates for public institutions and ensure effective system coordination in 


the delivery of post-secondary programs.  
 
A program review body would: 


  Review institutions against government’s established standards and advise government 
and the institutions of the results.   


 Provide sound advice and recommendations to government for decision. Membership 
would be comprised of individuals who have demonstrated a commitment to the 
principles and practices of quality assurance in post-secondary education. 
 


12.3  Financing 
 
A cost neutral model would be most effective to implement a system that enhances and 
strengthens quality assessment practices across the post-secondary education sector into a 







March 2013   


Page | 33  
 


unified quality assurance system.  For government, this model signifies the best fit for success, 
and would ease implementation and review going forward. In addition, this model helps the 
system realize efficiency, consistency, financial prudence and transparency.  
 
Ministry staff would continue to establish policy, review programs for system coordination and 
institutional alignment with mandate, establish institutional maturity levels and make 
recommendations to the Minister for final decision.   
 
The new framework would operate as a user-pay system where fees would be collected for 
operational purposes, including program reviews. The amount of costs recovered from the 
institution may vary by maturity classification. This would provide incentives for institutions to 
voluntarily develop their quality assessment processes in order to lower the level of external 
monitoring and related costs. This cost neutral system that generates revenue through user-pay 
would help the system realize efficiencies, consistencies and accountabilities 


  







March 2013   


Page | 34  
 


13.  Next Steps 
 
Government has been holding conversations with British Columbians on how to ensure quality 
in our post-secondary education since spring of 2012. Stakeholder views and ideas were used to 
inform development of the new framework outlined in this Green Paper. The Ministry is now 
preparing for implementation of the new quality assurance framework.  
 
Beginning in March 2013, the Ministry will undertake consultations to gather feedback and 
input on the Green Paper and implementation of the new quality assurance framework. 
Stakeholder input will be used to inform policy directions and possible legislation in fall 2013. It 
is expected that the ministry will complete work on the new quality assurance framework 
during the summer of 2013. A phased implementation of the framework will begin in fall 2013. 
 


13.1  Stakeholders 
 
Development and implementation of the new quality assurance framework is dependent upon 
the involvement of the stakeholders. Stakeholders will be invited to directly participate in 
consultations and ministry staff will continue to meet with the sector. Stakeholders will be kept 
informed about the progress and developments of the consultations, and development and 
implementation of the quality assurance framework. Stakeholders will be consulted at the 
executive level, the institutional level, and the individual level. 
 
  







March 2013   


Page | 35  
 


14.  Glossary 
 


 


Accreditation: The process of external quality review used in higher education to scrutinize colleges, 
universities, and higher education programs for quality assurance and quality improvement. Success 
results in an accredited institution and/or program.  
 
In the BC context, accreditation is used by the Private Career Training Institutions Agency (PCTIA) 
and by the Industry Training Authority (ITA). Under the PCTIA bylaws, accreditation describes a 
voluntary process by which a Registered institution meets additional quality standards in excess of 
registration requirements. Under the ITA bylaws, accreditation is granted to programs that follow 
national standards. 
 


Career Training: Under the Private Career Training Institutions Act career training is defined as 
credentials at the non-degree level, described in the National Occupational Classification scheme 
as an occupation where the tuition is greater than or equal to $1,000 and the program is longer 
than or equal to 40 hours. 
 
Degree Quality Assessment Board (DQAB): The DQAB was established to oversee the quality 
review process and make recommendations to the Minister on whether the criteria established 
by the Minister have been met for new degree approval (all institutions) and use of the word 
university (private and out of province public institutions).  
 
External Evaluation: The process carried out by the quality assurance body to evaluate the 
quality of an institution using data, information and evidence. The process generally includes 
analysis of a self-study report, a site visit, and an evaluation report. 
 


Industry Training Authority: The Agency responsible for leading and coordinating the skilled 
trades training and credentialing system for the province. 
 


International Student: A temporary resident who is in Canada principally to study and who has 
been issued a study permit by Citizenship and Immigration Canada (with or without other types 
of permits). 


Private Career Training Institutions Agency (PCTIA) – Under the Private Career Training 


Institutions Act, PCTIA has the authority to regulate private career training institutions in B.C. This 
includes responsibility for establishing standards of quality for voluntary accreditation and 
enforcing basic education standards for all registered institutions. 
 
Quality Assessment: The measurement of programs against established criteria and minimum 
standards.  
 







March 2013   


Page | 36  
 


Quality Assurance: A systematic review process of an institution or program to determine that 
established standards of education, knowledge, teaching and/or financial status and capacity 
are being maintained and enhanced. It is an ongoing evaluative process that includes 
assessment, monitoring and improving quality. It often includes a self-study and a component 
of external verification. 
 
Quality Improvement: Quality improvement is taking deliberate actions to bring about 
continual improvement of processes and performance.  
 


Registration: In B.C., when a private institution offers a career training program with $1000 or more 
in tuition and 40 hours or more in duration, it must be registered with the Private Career Training 
Institutions Agency (PCTIA). Registration requires the institution to meet basic education standards 
as set in the PCTIA Bylaws. 
 
Self-Study: A systematic assessment institutions undertake to measure the current condition of 
institutional quality. The self-study provides a clear sense of institutional areas of excellence as 
well as areas in need of improvement. 
 


  







March 2013   


Page | 37  


 


15.  References 
 
 
Berger, J., & Parkin, A. (2009). The Value of a Degree: Education, Employment and Earnings in 
Canada. In Berger, J., Motte, A., & Parkin, A. (Eds.), The price of knowledge (pp. 6-24). Ottawa: 
The Canada Millennium Scholarship Foundation. 
 
B.C. Government. (2012). Aboriginal Post-secondary Education and Training Policy Framework 


and Action Plan 2020 Vision for the Future: The BC Jobs Plan. Victoria, BC: Queen’s Printer. 
Retrieved from http://www.aved.gov.bc.ca/aboriginal/docs/ Aboriginal_Action_Plan.pdf  
 
B.C. Government. (2012). British Columbia’s International Education Strategy: The BC Jobs Plan. 
Victoria, BC: Queen’s Printer. Retrieved from 
http://www.aved.gov.bc.ca/internationaleducation/forms/InternationalEducationStrategy_WE
B.PDF  
  
B.C. Government. (2012). Canada Starts Here: The BC Jobs Plan. Victoria, BC: Queen’s Printer. 
Retrieved from http://www.bcjobsplan.ca/bcjobsplan/page1/ 
 
Citizen and Immigration Canada. (2010). Evaluation of the International Student Program. 
Retrieved from http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/pdf/research-stats/2010-eval-isp-e.pdf 
 
Rosalyn Kunin & Associates Inc. (2011). The Economic Impact of International Education in 


British Columbia. Retrieved from: 
http://www.bccie.bc.ca/sites/bccie_society/files/BCCIE_IntEdReport_110221.pdf 
 
Maier, A., Moultrie, J. & Clarkson, P. (2012). Assessing Organizational Capabilities: Reviewing 
and Guiding the Development of Maturity Grids. IEEE Transactions on Engineering 


Management, 59(1), 138-159. 
 
Paulk, M., Curtis, B., Chrissis, M. & Weber, C. (1993). Capability Maturity ModelSM for Software, 


Version 1.1. Technical Report CMU/SEI-93-TR-024ESC-TR-93-177, Software Engineering 
Institute, Carnegie Mellon University. 



http://www.aved.gov.bc.ca/aboriginal/docs/Aboriginal_Action_Plan.pdf

http://www.aved.gov.bc.ca/internationaleducation/forms/InternationalEducationStrategy_WEB.PDF

http://www.bcjobsplan.ca/bcjobsplan/page1/

http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/pdf/research-stats/2010-eval-isp-e.pdf

http://www.bccie.bc.ca/sites/bccie_society/files/BCCIE_IntEdReport_110221.pdf









